Contract No:

This document was prepared in conjunction with work accomplished under Contract No. DE-AC09-08SR22470 with the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) Office of Environmental Management (EM).

Disclaimer:

This work was prepared under an agreement with and funded by the U.S. Government. Neither the U.S. Government or its employees, nor any of its contractors, subcontractors or their employees, makes any express or implied:

- 1) warranty or assumes any legal liability for the accuracy, completeness, or for the use or results of such use of any information, product, or process disclosed; or
- 2) representation that such use or results of such use would not infringe privately owned rights; or
- 3) endorsement or recommendation of any specifically identified commercial product, process, or service.

Any views and opinions of authors expressed in this work do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government, or its contractors, or subcontractors.



GoldSim E-Area Low-Level Waste Facility Vadose Zone Model Benchmarking

J. L. Wohlwend S. E. Aleman October 2020 SRNL-STI-2020-00372, Revision 0

SRNL.DOE.GOV

DISCLAIMER

This work was prepared under an agreement with and funded by the U.S. Government. Neither the U.S. Government or its employees, nor any of its contractors, subcontractors or their employees, makes any express or implied:

- 1. warranty or assumes any legal liability for the accuracy, completeness, or for the use or results of such use of any information, product, or process disclosed; or
- 2. representation that such use or results of such use would not infringe privately owned rights; or
- 3. endorsement or recommendation of any specifically identified commercial product, process, or service.

Any views and opinions of authors expressed in this work do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government, or its contractors, or subcontractors.

Printed in the United States of America

Prepared for U.S. Department of Energy

SRNL-STI-2020-00372 Revision 0

Keywords: Sensitivity and Uncertainty Analysis, PORFLOW, Monte Carlo, Modeling

Retention: Permanent

GoldSim E-Area Low-Level Waste Facility Vadose Zone Model Benchmarking

J. L. Wohlwend S. E. Aleman

October 2020



Prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy under contract number DE-AC09-08SR22470.

OPERATED BY SAVANNAH RIVER NUCLEAR SOLUTIONS

SRNL-STI-2020-00372 Revision 0

REVIEWS AND APPROVALS

AUTHORS:

J. L. Wohlwend, Environmental Sciences & Dosimetry, SRNL	Date
S. E. Aleman, Environmental Sciences & Dosimetry, SRNL	Date
FECHNICAL REVIEW:	
B. T. Butcher, Environmental & Biological Sciences, SRNL	Date
APPROVAL:	
D. G. Jackson, Manager Environmental Sciences & Dosimetry, SRNL	Date
B. Lee, Director Environmental & Biological Sciences, SRNL	Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors gratefully acknowledge J. A. Dyer, T. L. Danielson, L. L. Hamm, and B. T. Butcher for their counsel.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

This report documents the development and benchmarking of the E-Area Low-Level Waste Facility (ELLWF) GoldSim Engineered and Slit Trench (ET and ST) vadose zone models. Subsequent activities (beyond the scope of this effort) will couple the GoldSim-based vadose zone models to the GoldSim aquifer model, with the intent of performing stochastic analyses that couple all pertinent fate and transport processes from the ground surface up to the 100-m Point of Assessment (POA). The benchmarking presented within this report focuses on the Slit Trench 06 (ST06) hydrostratigraphic location that resides within the center set of slit trenches. These GoldSim-based vadose zone models are generic models capable of being benchmarked to any of the other trench locations within E-Area.

This is a key component of the effort to include uncertainty quantification and sensitivity analysis (UQSA) in the next revision of the E-Area Performance Assessment (PA). This report describes the model and shows results obtained from benchmarking the GoldSim transport simulations under a deterministic mode (using nominal best estimate parameter settings) to best-estimate deterministic results obtained using the PORFLOW vadose zone model. The P PORFLOW model is three-dimensional while the GoldSim model represents a simplified one-dimensional treatment. The GoldSim ET and ST vadose zone models were able to reproduce PORFLOW peak fluxes, with acceptable accuracy for ET Case01 (Intact) and ST Case01 (Intact), as shown in Table ES-1 and Table ES-2, respectively. The GoldSim ET and ST vadose zone models were able to reproduce PORFLOW peak fluxes, with acceptable accuracy for ET Case11b (Subsided) and ST Case11b (Subsided), as shown in Table ES-3 and Table ES-4, respectively. The detailed comparison of radionuclide and tracer fluxes from the waste zone and to the water table are discussed in Section 5 and summarized in Section 6.

Note that the parameter settings established are universal in nature and are independent of radionuclide and its progeny. The close agreement between the two models provides confidence that GoldSim will provide adequate results that will reflect the behavior of vadose zone transport under off-nominal operating conditions for sensitivity and uncertainty analysis.

	PORF	LOW	Gold	lSim	Ratio	
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/PORFLOW	
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr
C-14	1.143E-01	1092	1.183E-01	1092	1.04E+00	1.00
Н-3	4.169E+03	21	5.113E+03	21	1.23E+00	1.00
I-129	1.202E-04	691	1.265E-04	692	1.05E+00	1.00
Np-237	6.971E-04	1072	7.977E-04	1052	1.14E+00	0.98
U-233	2.045E-08	5000	2.084E-08	5000	1.02E+00	1.00
Th-229	1.806E-09	5000	1.838E-09	5000	1.02E+00	1.00
Sr-90	3.478E-11	1031	2.475E-11	1072	7.12E-01	1.04
Тс-99	6.449E-03	571	6.594E-03	552	1.02E+00	0.97

 Table ES-1. Comparison of GoldSim and PORFLOW peak fluxes to the water table and peaks times ET Case01 (Intact).

	PORFLOW		GoldSim		Ratio	
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/PORFLOW	
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr
U-238	2.322E-17	5000	5.851E-22	5000	2.52E-05	1.00
U-234	3.261E-19	5000	8.187E-24	5000	2.51E-05	1.00
Th-230	2.529E-22	5000	4.271E-27	5000	1.69E-05	1.00
Ra-226	1.714E-12	5000	1.803E-12	5000	1.05E+00	1.00
Pb-210	2.105E-14	5000	2.215E-14	5000	1.05E+00	1.00
	mol/yr		mol/yr			
Tracer	2.329E-01	21	2.852E-01	21	1.22E+00	1.00

Table ES-2. Comparison of GoldSim and PORFLOW peak fluxes to the water table and
peaks times ST Case01 (Intact).

	PORF	LOW	Gold	Sim	Ratio	
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/POR	FLOW
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr
C-14	7.006E-02	1222	6.617E-02	1223	9.44E-01	1.00
Н-3	3.582E+03	20	5.104E+03	20	1.43E+00	0.99
I-129	9.655E-05	731	1.087E-04	712	1.13E+00	0.97
Np-237	4.556E-04	1132	4.745E-04	1092	1.04E+00	0.96
U-233	1.871E-08	5000	1.9501E-08	5000	1.04E+00	1.00
Th-229	1.639E-09	5000	1.649E-09	5000	1.01E+00	1.00
Sr-90	3.060E-11	991	2.114E-11	1072	6.91E-01	1.08
Тс-99	6.3502E-03	611	6.484E-03	592	1.02E+00	0.97
U-238	2.279E-17	5000	9.280E-26	5000	4.07E-09	1.00
U-234	3.200E-19	5000	1.299E-27	5000	4.06E-09	1.00
Th-230	2.487E-22	5000	5.009E-31	5000	2.01E-09	1.00
Ra-226	1.147E-12	5000	1.196E-12	5000	1.04E+00	1.00
Pb-210	1.403E-14	5000	1.462E-14	5000	1.04E+00	1.00
	mol/yr		mol/yr			
Tracer	1.999E-01	21	2.823E-01	20	1.41E+00	0.99

	PORF	LOW	Gold	Sim	Ratio	
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/PORFLOW	
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr
C-14	1.095E-01	1092	1.164E-01	1092	1.06E+00	1.00E+00
Н-3	4.169E+03	21	5.015E+03	21	1.20E+00	1.00E+00
I-129	1.127E-04	691	1.240E-04	692	1.10E+00	1.00E+00
Np-237	6.627E-04	1072	7.830E-04	1052	1.18E+00	9.81E-01
U-233	2.044E-08	5000	2.054E-08	5000	1.00E+00	1.00E+00
Th-229	1.806E-09	5000	1.815E-09	5000	1.00E+00	1.00E+00
Sr-90	7.610E-03	249	2.915E-04	271	3.83E-02	1.09E+00
Тс-99	6.244E-02	46	6.991E-02	46	1.12E+00	1.00E+00
U-238	3.590E-11	5000	1.461E-13	5000	4.07E-03	1.00E+00
U-234	5.029E-13	5000	2.043E-15	5000	4.06E-03	1.00E+00
Th-230	1.009E-15	5000	2.578E-18	5000	2.56E-03	1.00E+00
Ra-226	1.838E-12	5000	1.780E-12	5000	9.68E-01	1.00E+00
Pb-210	2.259E-14	5000	2.187E-14	5000	9.68E-01	1.00E+00
	mol/yr		mol/yr			
Tracer	2.329E-01	21	2.798E-01	21	1.20E+00	1.00E+00

Table ES-3. Comparison of GoldSim and PORFLOW peak fluxes to the water table and
peaks times ET Case11b (Subsided).

	PORF	LOW	Gold	Sim	Ratio	
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/PORFLOW	
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr
C-14	6.753E-02	1222	6.453E-02	1223	9.56E-01	1.00E+00
Н-3	3.582E+03	20	5.115E+03	20	1.43E+00	1.00E+00
I-129	9.061E-05	731	1.029E-04	712	1.14E+00	9.74E-01
Np-237	4.350E-04	1132	4.586E-04	1072	1.05E+00	9.47E-01
U-233	1.862E-08	5000	1.941E-08	5000	1.04E+00	1.00E+00
Th-229	1.633E-09	5000	1.639E-09	5000	1.00E+00	1.00E+00
Sr-90	5.458E-03	255	6.568E-03	264	1.20E+00	1.04E+00
Тс-99	4.477E-02	46	6.257E-02	46	1.40E+00	1.00E+00
U-238	3.222E-11	5000	1.579E-12	5000	4.90E-02	1.00E+00
U-234	4.514E-13	5000	2.209E-14	5000	4.89E-02	1.00E+00
Th-230	8.856E-16	5000	2.174E-17	5000	2.45E-02	1.00E+00
Ra-226	1.301E-12	5000	1.361E-12	5000	1.05E+00	1.00E+00
Pb-210	1.594E-14	5000	1.666E-14	5000	1.05E+00	1.00E+00
	mol/yr		mol/yr			
Tracer	1.999E-01	21	2.823E-01	20	1.41E+00	9.52E-01

Table ES-4. Comparison of GoldSim and PORFLOW peak fluxes to the water table and peaks times ST Case11b (Subsided).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF TABLES	xii
LIST OF FIGURES	xiii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	xvii
1.0 Introduction	1
2.0 Overview of Vadose Zone Models	4
3.0 PORFLOW Vadose Zone Models	7
3.1 PORFLOW Central Engineered Trench Vadose Zone Model	10
3.2 PORFLOW Slit Trench Vadose Zone Model	12
4.0 GoldSim Vadose Zone Models	17
4.1 Dashboard User Interface	17
4.2 GoldSim Engineered Trench Vadose Zone Model	20
4.2.1 Intact and Subsided Waste Zone Models	23
4.2.2 Lower Vadose Zone Models	
4.3 GoldSim Slit Trench Vadose Zone Model	
4.3.1 Intact Waste Zone Mode1	
4.3.2 Subsided Waste Zone Model	44
4.3.3 Lower Vadose Zone Model (Intact Waste Zone)	
4.3.4 Lower Vadose Zone Model (Subsided Waste Zone)	
5.0 GoldSim Model Benchmarking to PORFLOW	60
5.1 Flux from the Waste Zone	60
5.1.1 ET Case01 WZ Fluxes	60
5.1.2 ET Casel 1b WZ Fluxes	62
5.1.3 ST Case01 WZ Fluxes	

	Revision 0
5.1.4 ST Case11b WZ Fluxes	
5.2 Flux to the Water Table	
5.2.1 ET Case01 VZ Fluxes	
5.2.2 ET Casel 1b VZ Fluxes	70
5.2.3 ST Case01 VZ Fluxes	72
5.2.4 ST Case11b VZ Fluxes	74
6.0 Summary and Conclusions	77
7.0 Recommendations, Path Forward or Future Work	
8.0 References	

LIST OF TABLES

Table ES-1. Comparison of GoldSim and PORFLOW peak fluxes to the water table and peaks times ET Case01 (Intact)
Table ES-2. Comparison of GoldSim and PORFLOW peak fluxes to the water table and peaks times ST Case01 (Intact)
Table ES-3. Comparison of GoldSim and PORFLOW peak fluxes to the water table and peaks times ET Case11b (Subsided)
Table ES-4. Comparison of GoldSim and PORFLOW peak fluxes to the water table and peaks times ST Casel 1b (Subsided).
Table 2-1. Radionuclide data for species modeled
Table 2-2. Mean Soil/Water partition coefficients
Table 3-1. Infiltration zones for PORFLOW vadose zone flow simulations
Table 3-2. Material zones within the footprint of the engineered trench. 12
Table 3-3. Hydraulic and transport properties of porous media in an engineered trench
Table 3-4. Material zones within the footprint of the slit trench and non-waste segments
Table 3-5. Hydraulic and transport properties of porous media in a slit trench
Table 6-1. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak times for ET Case01 (T \leq 171 years)
Table 6-2. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak timesfor ET Case01 (T > 171 years)
Table 6-3. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak timesfor ET Case11b (T \leq 171 years)
Table 6-4. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak timesfor ET Case11b (T > 171 years)
Table 6-5. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak timesfor ST Case01 (T \leq 171 years)
Table 6-6. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak timesfor ST Case01 (T > 171 years)
Table 6-7. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak timesfor ST Casel1b (T \leq 171 years).81
Table 6-8. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak timesfor ST Casel 1b (T > 171 years).82

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1-1. Areal layout of slit segments within a single slit trench
Figure 1-2. Vertical cross-section of slit segments in the UVZ and LVZ2
Figure 1-3. Areal layout of a central engineered trench with covers
Figure 1-4. Vertical cross-section of a central engineered trench in the UVZ and LVZ3
Figure 3-1. Depths and thicknesses of seven hydrostratigraphic groupings for input to PORFLOW models
Figure 3-2. Common mesh and discrete hole locations for centrally located ST/ETs
Figure 3-3. Common mesh and discrete hole locations for ST/ETs in corner positions of the final closure cap
Figure 3-4. PORFLOW ET and ST infiltration rates through the top of the modeling domain. 10
Figure 3-5. Chair cutout of the PORFLOW ET 3D mesh with material zones
Figure 3-6. YZ cross-section of the PORFLOW ET 3D mesh with material zones
Figure 3-7. Chair cutout of the PORFLOW ST 3D mesh with material zones
Figure 3-8. YZ cross-section of the PORFLOW ST 3D mesh with material zones
Figure 4-1. Top-Level container of the ELLWF Trench System Model17
Figure 4-2. Home dashboard for the slit trench model
Figure 4-3. General model simulation controls
Figure 4-4. Controls specific to the slit trenches
Figure 4-5. GoldSim vadose zone models for engineered and slit trenches
Figure 4-6. Schematic of the GoldSim engineered trench vadose zone conceptual model21
Figure 4-7. GoldSim engineered trench waste zone containers
Figure 4-8. GoldSim engineered trench lower vadose zone containers
Figure 4-9. ST06/ET Case01 vertical velocities in the WZ and LVZ
Figure 4-10. ST06/ET Casel 1b vertical velocities through the WZ and LVZ in Hole 2
Figure 4-11. GoldSim engineered trench waste zone cell pathways
Figure 4-12. WasteZone_02_1 cell pathway properties: Definition and Inflows25

Revision 0
Figure 4-13. WasteZone_02_1 cell pathway properties: Outflows and Diffusive Fluxes25
Figure 4-14. ST06/ET Case01 water saturations in the WZ27
Figure 4-15. ST06/ET Casel 1b water saturations in the WZ of Hole 2
Figure 4-16. GoldSim engineered trench lower vadose zone cell pathways
Figure 4-17. Clayey_1 cell pathway properties: Definition and Inflows
Figure 4-18. Clayey_1 cell pathway properties: Outflows and Diffusive Fluxes
Figure 4-19. ST06/ET Case01 water saturations in the LVZ
Figure 4-20. ST06/ET Case11b water saturations in the LVZ of Hole 2
Figure 4-21. Schematic of the GoldSim slit trench five segment VZ model
Figure 4-22. Schematic of the GoldSim slit trench intact segment (S1 to S4) VZ model33
Figure 4-23. Schematic of the GoldSim slit trench subsided segment (S5) VZ model33
Figure 4-24. GoldSim slit trench waste zone containers
Figure 4-25. GoldSim slit trench lower vadose zone containers
Figure 4-26. ST06/ST Case01 average vertical velocities in slit segements 1 through 5 (WZ and LVZ)
Figure 4-27. ST06/ST Case01 average vertical velocities between slit segments (UVZ and LVZ).
Figure 4-28. ST06/ST Casel 1b vertical velocities through slit segment 5 (WZ and LVZ)37
Figure 4-29. ST06/ST Case11b vertical velocities between slit segments 4 and 5 (UVZ and LVZ).
Figure 4-30. ST06/ST Case11b vertical velocities through H2 in slit segment 5 (WZ and LVZ).
Figure 4-31. GoldSim intact slit trench segment waste zone cell network
Figure 4-32. NDC_ST_X1Y1 cell pathway properties: Definition and Inflows41
Figure 4-33. NDC_ST_X1Y1 cell pathway properties: Outflows and Diffusive Fluxes
Figure 4-34. ST06/ST Case01 average water saturations in slit segments 1 through 5 (WZ)43
Figure 4-35. ST06/ST Case01 average water saturations between slit segments (UVZ)
Figure 4-36. GoldSim subsided slit trench segment waste zone cell network
Figure 4-37. NDC_H2_X3Y1 cell pathway properties: Definition and Inflows45

Figure 4-38. NDC_H2_X3Y1 cell pathway properties: Outflows and Diffusive Fluxes
Figure 4-39. ST06/ST Case11b water saturations in slit segment 5 (WZ)
Figure 4-40. ST06/ST Case11b water saturations between slit segment 4 and 5 (UVZ)
Figure 4-41. ST06/ST Case11b water saturations in H2 of slit segment 5 (WZ)48
Figure 4-42. GoldSim slit trench lower vadose zone cell network (Intact WZ)50
Figure 4-43. US_ST_X1Y1 cell pathway properties: Definition and Inflows
Figure 4-44. US_ST_X1Y1 cell pathway properties: Outflows and Diffusive Fluxes
Figure 4-45. ST06/ST Case01 average water saturations in slit segments 1 through 5 (LVZ) 52
Figure 4-46. ST06/ST Case01 average water saturations between slit segments (LVZ)
Figure 4-47. GoldSim slit trench lower vadose zone containers (Subsided WZ)53
Figure 4-48. GoldSim slit trench upper sandy layer cell network (Subsided WZ)54
Figure 4-49. GoldSim slit trench tan clay layer cell network (Subsided WZ)55
Figure 4-50. GoldSim slit trench lower sandy layer cell network (Subsided WZ)56
Figure 4-51. US_H2_X3Y1 cell pathway properties: Definition and Inflows
Figure 4-52. US_H2_X3Y1 cell pathway properties: Outflows and Diffusive Fluxes
Figure 4-53. ST06/ST Casel 1b water saturations in slit segment 5 (LVZ)
Figure 4-54. ST06/ST Casel 1b water saturations between slit segments 4 and 5 (LVZ)
Figure 4-55. ST06/ST Casel 1b water saturations in H2 of slit segment 5 (LVZ)
Figure 5-1. ST06/ET Case01 flux from the waste zone (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237)61
Figure 5-2. ST06/ET Case01 flux from the waste zone (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer) 62
Figure 5-3. ST06/ET Case11b flux from the waste zone (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237)
Figure 5-4. ST06/ET Case11b flux from the waste zone (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer) 64
Figure 5-5. ST06/ST Case01 flux from the waste zone (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237)65
Figure 5-6. ST06/ST Case01 flux from the waste zone (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer)66
Figure 5-7. ST06/ST Case11b flux from the waste zone (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237)67
Figure 5-8. ST06/ST Case11b flux from the waste zone (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer) 68
Figure 5-9. ST06/ET Case01 flux to the water table (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237)69

Revision 0

Figure 5-10. ST06/ET Case01 flux to the water table (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer)......70

- Figure 5-11. ST06/ET Casel 1b flux to the water table (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237).....71
- Figure 5-12. ST06/ET Casel 1b flux to the water table (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer)......72
- Figure 5-13. ST06/ST Case01 flux to the water table (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237)......73
- Figure 5-14. ST06/ST Case01 flux to the water table (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer)........74
- Figure 5-15. ST06/ST Case11b flux to the water table (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237)......75
- Figure 5-16. ST06/ST Casel 1b flux to the water table (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer).......76

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

BS	Between Segments
CIG	Components-in-Grout
DC	Dynamically Compacted
DU	Disposal Unit
ELLWF	E-Area Low-Level Waste Facility
ET	Engineered Trench
GSA	General Separations Areas
H2	Hole 2
HELP	Hydrologic Evaluation of Landfill Performance
IC	Institutional Control
ILV	Intermediate Level (Waste) Vault
LAWV	Low Activity Waste Vault
LS	Lower Sandy
LVZ	Lower Vadose Zone
NDC	Nondynamically Compacted
PA	Performance Assessment
POA	Point of Assessment
SRNL	Savannah River National Laboratory
SRS	Savannah River Site
ST	Slit Trench
SUA	Sensitivity and Uncertainty Analysis
TC	Tan Clay
UQSA	Uncertainty Quantification and Sensitivity Analysis
US	Upper Sandy
UVZ	Upper Vadose Zone
VZ	Vadose Zone
WT	Water Table
WZ	Waste Zone

1.0 Introduction

The Contaminant Transport Module in the GoldSim[®] Monte Carlo simulation software (GTG 2018) is utilized to model the release and transport of radiological inventory disposed within engineered and slit trenches. This report presents the benchmarking of the E-Area Low-Level Waste Facility (ELLWF) GoldSim vadose zone model to three-dimensional PORFLOW (ACRI, 2018) ET and ST vadose zone models. This is a key component of the effort to include uncertainty quantification and sensitivity analysis (UQSA) in this revision of the E-Area PA, considering recommendations from the 2015PA strategic planning team outlined by Butcher and Phifer (2016).

The model can provide both deterministic and stochastic (probabilistic) results and is a sub-model of the GoldSim system model described by Wohlwend (2020).

The Savannah River Site (SRS) ELLWF consists of three types of trench disposal units (DUs): Slit Trenches (STs), Engineered Trenches (ETs), and Component-in-Grout (CIG) Trenches. Only STs/ETs are addressed in the GoldSim vadose zone model as the two CIG trenches are largely unused and therefore being converted into Slit Trenches and the existing nine CIG segments treated as special waste forms (Danielson 2020).

STs are below-grade earthen disposal units with vertical side slopes making them inaccessible by vehicle. Waste is typically deposited at the top on one end and pushed into the unit (bulk waste) or crane lifted into place (containerized waste). Each ST is generally laid out in a series of five narrow parallel trench rows. In the typical layout, each trench row is designed to be 20 feet deep, 20 feet wide, and 656 feet long with ten feet to 14 feet of undisturbed soil separating each parallel trench row. The areal layout of a single slit trench is shown in Figure 1-1. A set of five, 20-foot wide trench rows, are grouped together within a nominal 157-foot wide by 656-foot long disposal unit footprint forming a single ST. The vertical cross-section of slit segments in the upper vadose zone (UVZ) and the lower vadose zone (LVZ) is shown in .Figure 1-2



Figure 1-1. Areal layout of slit segments within a single slit trench.



ETs are also below grade earthen disposal units. ETs are vehicle-accessible with an open trench design spanning the entire width and length of the disposal unit footprint (nominal size, 656 feet long and 157 feet wide). The areal layout of a central engineered trench with covers is shown in Figure 1-3. To allow vehicle accessibility, trench sides are laid back with slopes ranging from 1.25:1 (horizontal:vertical) to 1.5:1. This design allows forklift and crane access to the interior of the trench for stacking of containerized waste primarily consisting of B-25 boxes and SeaLand containers. The vertical cross-section of a central engineered trench in the UVZ and LVZ is shown in Figure 1-4.



Figure 1-3. Areal layout of a central engineered trench with covers.



2.0 Overview of Vadose Zone Models

PORFLOW three-dimensional vadose models of a centrally located slit and engineered trench were developed by Danielson (2019) using the depth to water table and hydrostratigraphic surfaces beneath Slit Trench 6 (Bagwell and Bennett, 2017). The upper boundary condition of the PORFLOW models is defined by time dependent infiltration rates to account for the operational period (uncovered), institutional control period (interim cover), the post-closure period (final cover – intact case, subsided cases and long-term degradation). The final cover overhangs the trench by 40 feet and the interim cover overhangs the trench by 10 feet. The operational stormwater runoff (geomembrane) cover is assumed to be applied to an ST four years after the placement of the last waste package but was not implemented in this study as the timing of each operational cover installation is unique. This early cover has the same overhang and infiltration rate as the interim cover.

The ET and ST trench models include intact and subsidence cases (Case01 and Case11b, respectively). Subsidence refers specifically to non-crushable containers and vessels that do not collapse during dynamic compaction but are assumed to fail catastrophically immediately upon installation of the final closure cap resulting in localized cap subsidence referred to as "holes" in the closure cap. Subsidence cases were investigated using only a single discrete hole with a specific dimension and location as discussed in Section 3.0. The intact and subsidence cases both include dynamic compaction of the waste zone. Dynamic compaction of the waste zone and subsidence are assumed to occur at the end of institutional control (IC).

The vadose zone model represents three porous media zones comprising the disposal system including: the waste zone (WZ), upper vadose zone (UVZ), and lower vadose zone (LVZ). The hydraulic properties within these zones employ the following six material types defined by Nichols (2020): STETboxesBC, STETboxesAC, SThybridBC, SThybridAC, ClayeySoil (UVZ), and SandySoil (LVZ).

ELLWF Trench GoldSim Models were built using the Contaminant Transport Module in GoldSim version 12.1.3 #192 (March 13, 2019). GoldSim's cell pathway element was used to build a column and network of cells for modeling the advective and diffusive transport of radionuclides below the operational soil cover to the water table in the ST and ET, respectively. The cell pathway allows inventory transfer within the waste zone during dynamic compaction. The cell pathway accommodates back diffusion which can occur after dynamic compaction of the waste zone. The GoldSim ET trench model includes intact and subsidence cell pathway elements. The GoldSim ST trench model includes intact, between segment and subsidence cell pathway elements.

Vertical Darcy velocities and water saturations from the PORFLOW vadose zone flow simulations are extracted for each steady-state simulation (time period) and averaged within user specified material zones for the GoldSim vadose zone (VZ) model. Volume-averaged vertical Darcy velocities are computed for the porous media zones (WZ, UVZ and LVZ) in each cell pathway column for input to the GoldSim VZ model. Transport properties of ET boxed and ST hybrid waste (pre and post dynamic compaction), UVZ and LVZ were extracted from the PORFLOW VZ model and included in the GoldSim VZ model.

Seven parent radionuclides and their progeny (half-life > 1 year) were modeled in the PORFLOW and GoldSim vadose zone models. The parent radionuclides include C-14, H-3, I-129, Np-237, Sr-90, Tc-99 and U-238. A conservative tracer was also modeled for assessing mass balance of fluxes from the waste zone and to the water table. The radionuclide data for the species modeled

are obtained from the SRNL Radionuclide-Dose data package (Kaplan 2016) and given in Table 2-1.

Species ID	Atomic Weight (g/mol)	Half-life (year)	Sp. Act. (Ci/mol)	Daughter
C-14	14	5.7000E+03	6.2719E+01	
Н-3	3	1.2320E+01	2.9018E+04	
I-129	129	1.5700E+07	2.2770E-02	
Np-237	237	2.1440E+06	1.6674E-01	U-233
U-233	233	1.5920E+05	2.2456E+00	Th-229
Th-229	229	7.3400E+03	4.8705E+01	
Sr-90	90	2.8790E+01	1.2417E+04	
Тс-99	99	2.1110E+05	5.2100E+08	
U-238	238	4.4680E+09	8.0012E-05	U-234
U-234_	234	2.4550E+05	1.4562E+00	Th-230
Th-230	230	7.5380E+04	4.7426E+00	Ra-226
Ra-226	226	1.6000E+03	2.2343E+02	Pb-210
Pb-210	210	2.2200E+01	1.6103E+04	

Table 2-1. Radionuclide data for species modeled.

Best estimate soil/water partition coefficients (K_d s) for the various solid materials are defined for each chemical element in the model (not each radionuclide species, e.g., a single K_d is assigned to all isotopes of uranium). Clayey and Sandy sediment K_d s are assigned to radionuclides in the different material zones in the vadose zone model (i.e., WZ, UVZ, and LVZ) based on the chemical characteristics of the material types.

Clayey sediment K_d s are assigned to radionuclides in the WZ (i.e., waste cells in the model) as the geochemistry of Clayey sediment is assumed to approximate that of the rusted metal waste containers. Sorption coefficients are given in Table 2-2. In the vadose zone model, uncertainty distributions for these best estimate K_d values are derived from Kaplan (2016).

Element	Best Sand <i>Kd</i> (mL/g)	Best Clay <i>Kd</i> (mL/g)		
С	1.0E+00	3.0E+01		
Н	0.0E+00	0.0E+00		
Ι	1.0E+00	3.0E+00		
Np	3.0E+00	9.0E+00		
Pb	2.0E+03	5.0E+03		
Ra	2.5E+01	1.8E+02		
Sr	5.0E+00	1.7E+01		
Tc	6.0E-01	1.8E+00		
Th	9.0E+02	2.0E+03		
U	3.0E+02	4.0E+02		

 Table 2-2.
 Mean Soil/Water partition coefficients.

3.0 PORFLOW Vadose Zone Models

PORFLOW three-dimensional vadose models of a central slit and engineered trench were developed using the depth to water table and hydrostratigraphic surfaces beneath slit trench 6 (ST06). ST06 is a centrally located unit in group 3 of the 7 hydrostratigraphic groups shown in Figure 3-1 with a minimum depth to water table of 55 feet and a minimum clay thickness of 2 feet.



Figure 3-1. Depths and thicknesses of seven hydrostratigraphic groupings for input to PORFLOW models.

To simplify mesh generation of models for ETs and STs, the spatial discretization along the x and y directions of the mesh is the same for all models. Figure 3-2 and Figure 3-3 show the common mesh used for ETs and STs for trench units centrally located and along the corners beneath the final closure cap, respectively. Variations along the Z direction occur only to account for differences in the depth to the water table and clayey thickness, but the discretization of the trench is always the same. Therefore, the only difference between the ET and ST models for a particular hydrostratigraphic grouping are the assignments of material types within regions of the mesh corresponding to the disposal unit. More specifically, ETs have uniformly specified waste across the entire DU footprint that corresponds to boxed waste (16-feet-tall before dynamic compaction and 2.5-feet tall after dynamic compaction). STs, on the other hand, have a 10-foot-wide section of upper vadose zone material separating each of the five trench segments and 8.5-foot-wide sections of upper vadose zone material separating trench segments 1 and 5 from the edge of the overall footprint. Additionally, the waste form for STs is assumed to be hybrid waste (16-feet-tall before dynamic compaction and 8.87-feet-tall after dynamic compaction). Because a ST receives both bulk and boxed waste throughout a trench, a "hybrid" waste zone is assumed by combining the two waste types into a set of equivalent properties based on an estimated fraction of each waste type.

Revision 0

The upper boundary condition of the PORFLOW models is defined by time dependent infiltration rates to account for operational time period (uncovered), institutional control period (interim cover), and the end of institutional control (final cover) and beyond (degradation of the final cover). Dyer (2019) identifies bounding conceptual infiltration models pertaining to the final closure cap and provides intact and subsided infiltration estimates based on the area beneath the closure cap occupied by non-crushable containers in each disposal unit. Each unique percent subsidence requires a separate model setup for boundary condition specification. Additionally, a trench that falls along a corner of the final closure cap (e.g., ET3 or ST22) requires a separate model so that so that boundary conditions can be uniquely applied for central vs. corner units. Figure 3-2 and Figure 3-3 show potential hole locations (green rectangles) and final cover geometry (light blue dashed outline) for centrally located and corner trench units, respectively. The hole locations shown were considered for evaluation by Danielson (2019) for both ETs and STs. Hole location 2 (Hole 2) was selected for the ST and ET vadose zone GoldSim model calibration described in this report.



Figure 3-2. Common mesh and discrete hole locations for centrally located ST/ETs.



Figure 3-3. Common mesh and discrete hole locations for ST/ETs in corner positions of the final closure cap.

The purple mesh areas represent the footprint of five ST segments. Hole 2 is located in the center of ST segment 5 (counting up from the ST segment at the bottom).

The final multilayer soil-geomembrane cover overhangs the trench by 40 feet and the interim (geomembrane only) cover overhangs the trench by 10 feet. The operational stormwater runoff (geomembrane only) cover that is applied to STs four years after the placement of the last waste package has the same overhang and infiltration rate as the interim cover but was not implemented in this study as the timing of each operational cover installation is unique.

Infiltration zones are designated at the top boundary nodes of the PORFLOW vadose zone flow models to account for changes in infiltration due the placement of operational, interim and final covers. The operational stormwater (not included here) and interim covers are assumed to be maintained in their intact condition while the final cover is subject to long term degradation and catastrophic subsidence due to the failure of underlying non-crushable containers. Infiltration zones for PORFLOW vadose zone flow simulations are shown in Table 3-1. A series of PORFLOW LOCAte and BOUNdary FLUX commands were executed for each infiltration zone in the order listed in the table. The Domain infiltration zone contains all top boundary nodes which remain uncovered throughout the simulation period (i.e., background areas adjacent to the closure cap). The intact Case01 for PORFLOW vadose zone simulations include only the top three infiltration zones. The subsidence Case11b for PORFLOW vadose zone simulations includes the additional subsidence infiltration in Hole 2.

Infiltration	Coord (lower	linates -left,ft)	Coord (upper-	linates right,ft)	Lengths (ft)		
Zone	X	у	X	у	dx	dy	
Domain	0.0	0.0	936.0	437.0	936	437	
Final cover	100.0	0.0	836.0	437.0	736	437	
Interim cover	130.0	0.0	806.0	437.0	676	437	
Hole 1	140.0	268.5	240.0	288.5	100	20	
Hole 2	368.0	268.5	468.0	288.5	100	20	
Hole 3	584.0	268.5	684.0	288.5	100	20	
Hole 4	140.0	238.5	240.0	258.5	100	20	
Hole 5	368.0	238.5	468.0	258.5	100	20	
Hole 6	584.0	238.5	684.0	258.5	100	20	
Hole 7	140.0	208.5	240.0	228.5	100	20	
Hole 8	368.0	208.5	468.0	228.5	100	20	
Hole 9	584.0	208.5	684.0	228.5	100	20	

Table 3-1.	Infiltration zone	s for PORFLOW	vadose zone flow	simulations.
------------	-------------------	---------------	------------------	--------------

Transient infiltration rates through the top boundary nodes of the PORFLOW vadose zone flow model were separated into a series of 98 steady-state flow simulations which span the simulation period from 0 to 5000 years. The PORFLOW ET and ST infiltration rates through the top of the modeling domain are shown in Figure 3-4.



Figure 3-4. PORFLOW ET and ST infiltration rates through the top of the modeling domain.

The PORFLOW vadose zone analysis involves a two-step simulation workflow that proceeds as follows:

- Steady-state vadose zone flow fields are obtained in a sequence of time periods each having a unique set of material properties that represent changes following dynamic compaction. The flow fields include changes in infiltration due to subsidence at the end of IC and placement of operational, interim and final covers (with subsequent degradation).
- Vadose zone contaminant transport models are supplied steady-state flow fields as input to solve the time-dependent transport equations and obtain the total flux from the waste zone and the total flux to the water table for each species.

In the following sections, specific modeling details of PORFLOW ET and ST vadose zone models will be described.

3.1 PORFLOW Central Engineered Trench Vadose Zone Model

The extent of the PORFLOW ET mesh is 201 vertices in the x-direction, 76 vertices in the ydirection and 47 vertices in the z-direction. The length of the mesh in the x, y and z directions is 936 feet, 437 feet and 55 feet, respectively. The engineered trench resides within a 656-foot by 157-foot region in the interior of the mesh. A chair cutout of the 3D mesh with material zones is shown in Figure 3-5.



Figure 3-5. Chair cutout of the PORFLOW ET 3D mesh with material zones.

An x-slice of the PORFLOW ET 3D through the center of the trench is shown in Figure 3-6.



Figure 3-6. YZ cross-section of the PORFLOW ET 3D mesh with material zones.

The coordinates and lengths of the material zones within the footprint of the engineered trench are shown in Table 3-2. The SANDY soil layer is broken into two layers: SANDY2 is the region above the TAN_CLAY and SANDY1 is the region below the TAN_CLAY.

Material	Coordinates (lower-left,ft)			С (ц	Coordinate oper-right	rs ,ft)	Lengths (ft)			
Zone	X	У	Z	X	у	Z	dx	dy	dz	
BACKFILL	140.0	140.0	51.0	796.0	297.0	55.0	656	157	4	
NDC_WASTE	140.0	140.0	37.5	796.0	297.0	51.0	656	157	13.5	
DC_WASTE	140.0	140.0	35.0	796.0	297.0	37.5	656	157	2.5	
SANDY2	140.0	140.0	12.0	796.0	297.0	35.0	656	157	23	
TAN_CLAY	140.0	140.0	10.0	796.0	297.0	12.0	656	157	2	
SANDY1	140.0	140.0	0.0	796.0	297.0	10.0	656	157	10	

Table 3-2. Material zones within the footprint of the engineered trench.

Hydraulic and transport properties of the porous media in an engineered trench are specified prior to and after dynamic compaction for each material type. Nominal parameter values for saturated effective diffusion coefficient (De), porosity, dry bulk density (rhob) and particle density (rhop) for each material type are given in Table 3-3.

ID	Material	De	Porosity	rhob	rhop	Time	period
	Name	(cm²/yr)		(g/cm ³)	(g/cm ³)	0 to 171 yrs	171 to 5000 yrs
UpperVadoseZone	Upper Vadose Zone	167.25528	0.385	1.6544	2.69	CLAYEY TAN_CLAY	CLAYEY TAN_CLAY
LowerVadoseZone	Lower Vadose Zone	167.25528	0.380	1.6554	2.67	SANDY2 SANDY1	SANDY2 SANDY1
OscBefore (OSC1)	E-Area Operational Soil Cover Before Dynamic Compaction	167.25528	0.456	1.4417	2.65	BACKFILL	
OscAfter (OSC2)	E-Area Operational Soil Cover After Dynamic Compaction	126.2304	0.275	1.9222	2.65		BACKFILL NDC_WASTE
STETboxesBC	ET boxed waste before DC	167.25528	0.894	0.2821	2.65	DC_WASTE NDC_WASTE	
STETboxesAC	ET boxed waste after DC	126.2304	0.275	1.9222	2.65		DC_WASTE

Table 3-3. Hydraulic and transport properties of porous media in an engineered trench.

3.2 PORFLOW Slit Trench Vadose Zone Model

The extent of the PORFLOW ST mesh is 201 vertices in the x-direction, 76 vertices in the ydirection and 47 vertices in the z-direction. The length of the mesh in the x, y and z directions is 936 feet, 437 feet and 55 feet, respectively. The slit trench resides within a 656-foot by 157-foot region in the interior of the mesh. A chair cutout of the 3D mesh with material zones is shown in Figure 3-7.





Figure 3-7. Chair cutout of the PORFLOW ST 3D mesh with material zones.

An x-slice of the PORFLOW ET 3D through the center of the trench is shown in Figure 3-8.



Figure 3-8. YZ cross-section of the PORFLOW ST 3D mesh with material zones.

The coordinates and lengths of the material zones within the footprint of slit trench and non-waste segments are shown in Table 3-4. The slit trench segments are numbered 1 through 5 with the material zones listed in the ascending y-direction. BTWN_STx_STy is the 10-foot wide non-

Revision 0

waste segment between STx and STy adjacent waste segments. ST_EDGE1 is 8.5-foot wide nonwaste segment below ST1. ST_EDGE2 is 8.5-foot wide non-waste segment above ST5. The SANDY soil layer is broken into two layers: SANDY2 is the region above the TAN_CLAY and SANDY1 is the region below the TAN_CLAY.

Segment	Material	(Coordinate lower-left,f	s t)	(u) (u)	Coordinates pper-right,	; ft)		Lengths (ft)	
	Zone	x	у	Z	x	у	z	dx	dy	dz
ST1	BACKFILL	140.00	148.50	51.00	796.00	168.50	55.00	656.00	20.00	4.00
ST1	NDC_WASTE	140.00	148.50	43.87	796.00	168.50	51.00	656.00	20.00	7.13
ST1	DC WASTE	140.00	148.50	35.00	796.00	168.50	43.87	656.00	20.00	8.87
ST1	SANDY2	140.00	148.50	12.00	796.00	168.50	35.00	656.00	20.00	23.00
ST1	TAN_CLAY	140.00	148.50	10.00	796.00	168.50	12.00	656.00	20.00	2.00
ST1	SANDY1	140.00	148.50	0.00	796.00	168.50	10.00	656.00	20.00	10.00
ST2	BACKFILL	140.00	178.50	51.00	796.00	198.50	55.00	656.00	20.00	4.00
ST2	NDC_WASTE	140.00	178.50	43.87	796.00	198.50	51.00	656.00	20.00	7.13
ST2	DC_WASTE	140.00	178.50	35.00	796.00	198.50	43.87	656.00	20.00	8.87
ST2	SANDY2	140.00	178.50	12.00	796.00	198.50	35.00	656.00	20.00	23.00
ST2	TAN_CLAY	140.00	178.50	10.00	796.00	198.50	12.00	656.00	20.00	2.00
ST2	SANDY1	140.00	178.50	0.00	796.00	198.50	10.00	656.00	20.00	10.00
ST3	BACKFILL	140.00	208.50	51.00	796.00	228.50	55.00	656.00	20.00	4.00
ST3	NDC WASTE	140.00	208.50	43.87	796.00	228.50	51.00	656.00	20.00	7.13
ST3	DC_WASTE	140.00	208.50	35.00	796.00	228.50	43.87	656.00	20.00	8.87
ST3	SANDY2	140.00	208.50	12.00	796.00	228.50	35.00	656.00	20.00	23.00
ST3	TAN_CLAY	140.00	208.50	10.00	796.00	228.50	12.00	656.00	20.00	2.00
ST3	SANDY1	140.00	208.50	0.00	796.00	228.50	10.00	656.00	20.00	10.00
ST4	BACKFILL	140.00	238.50	51.00	796.00	258.50	55.00	656.00	20.00	4.00
ST4	NDC_WASTE	140.00	238.50	43.87	796.00	258.50	51.00	656.00	20.00	7.13
ST4	DC_WASTE	140.00	238.50	35.00	796.00	258.50	43.87	656.00	20.00	8.87
ST4	SANDY2	140.00	238.50	12.00	796.00	258.50	35.00	656.00	20.00	23.00
ST4	TAN CLAY	140.00	238.50	10.00	796.00	258.50	12.00	656.00	20.00	2.00
ST4	SANDY1	140.00	238.50	0.00	796.00	258.50	10.00	656.00	20.00	10.00
ST5	BACKFILL	140.00	268.50	51.00	796.00	288.50	55.00	656.00	20.00	4.00
ST5	NDC_WASTE	140.00	268.50	43.87	796.00	288.50	51.00	656.00	20.00	7.13
ST5	DC WASTE	140.00	268.50	35.00	796.00	288.50	43.87	656.00	20.00	8.87
ST5	SANDY2	140.00	268.50	12.00	796.00	288.50	35.00	656.00	20.00	23.00
ST5	TAN CLAY	140.00	268.50	10.00	796.00	288.50	12.00	656.00	20.00	2.00

Table 3-4. Material zones within the footprint of the slit trench and non-waste segments.

Revision 0

Segment	Material	(Coordinate lower-left,f	s t)	((u)	Coordinates pper-right,	; ft)		Lengths (ft)		
	Zone	x	у	z	x	у	z	dx	dy	dz	
ST5	SANDY1	140.00	268.50	0.00	796.00	288.50	10.00	656.00	20.00	10.00	
ST_EDGE1	BACKFILL	140.00	140.00	51.00	796.00	148.50	55.00	656.00	8.50	4.00	
ST_EDGE1	NDC_WASTE	140.00	140.00	43.87	796.00	148.50	51.00	656.00	8.50	7.13	
ST_EDGE1	DC_WASTE	140.00	140.00	35.00	796.00	148.50	43.87	656.00	8.50	8.87	
ST EDGE1	SANDY2	140.00	140.00	12.00	796.00	148.50	35.00	656.00	8.50	23.00	
ST_EDGE1	TAN_CLAY	140.00	140.00	10.00	796.00	148.50	12.00	656.00	8.50	2.00	
ST_EDGE1	SANDY1	140.00	140.00	0.00	796.00	148.50	10.00	656.00	8.50	10.00	
ST_EDGE2	CLAYEY	140.00	288.50	51.00	796.00	297.00	55.00	656.00	8.50	4.00	
ST_EDGE2	CLAYEY	140.00	288.50	43.87	796.00	297.00	51.00	656.00	8.50	7.13	
ST_EDGE2	CLAYEY	140.00	288.50	35.00	796.00	297.00	43.87	656.00	8.50	8.87	
ST_EDGE2	SANDY2	140.00	288.50	12.00	796.00	297.00	35.00	656.00	8.50	23.00	
ST EDGE2	TAN CLAY	140.00	288.50	10.00	796.00	297.00	12.00	656.00	8.50	2.00	
ST_EDGE2	SANDY1	140.00	288.50	0.00	796.00	297.00	10.00	656.00	8.50	10.00	
BTWN_ST1_ST2	CLAYEY	140.00	168.50	51.00	796.00	178.50	55.00	656.00	10.00	4.00	
BTWN_ST1_ST2	CLAYEY	140.00	168.50	43.87	796.00	178.50	51.00	656.00	10.00	7.13	
BTWN_ST1_ST2	CLAYEY	140.00	168.50	35.00	796.00	178.50	43.87	656.00	10.00	8.87	
BTWN_ST1_ST2	SANDY2	140.00	168.50	12.00	796.00	178.50	35.00	656.00	10.00	23.00	
BTWN_ST1_ST2	TAN_CLAY	140.00	168.50	10.00	796.00	178.50	12.00	656.00	10.00	2.00	
BTWN ST1 ST2	SANDY1	140.00	168.50	0.00	796.00	178.50	10.00	656.00	10.00	10.00	
BTWN_ST2_ST3	CLAYEY	140.00	198.50	51.00	796.00	208.50	55.00	656.00	10.00	4.00	
BTWN_ST2_ST3	CLAYEY	140.00	198.50	43.87	796.00	208.50	51.00	656.00	10.00	7.13	
BTWN_ST2_ST3	CLAYEY	140.00	198.50	35.00	796.00	208.50	43.87	656.00	10.00	8.87	
BTWN_ST2_ST3	SANDY2	140.00	198.50	12.00	796.00	208.50	35.00	656.00	10.00	23.00	
BTWN_ST2_ST3	TAN_CLAY	140.00	198.50	10.00	796.00	208.50	12.00	656.00	10.00	2.00	
BTWN_ST2_ST3	SANDY1	140.00	198.50	0.00	796.00	208.50	10.00	656.00	10.00	10.00	
BTWN_ST3_ST4	CLAYEY	140.00	228.50	51.00	796.00	238.50	55.00	656.00	10.00	4.00	
BTWN ST3 ST4	CLAYEY	140.00	228.50	43.87	796.00	238.50	51.00	656.00	10.00	7.13	
BTWN_ST3_ST4	CLAYEY	140.00	228.50	35.00	796.00	238.50	43.87	656.00	10.00	8.87	
BTWN_ST3_ST4	SANDY2	140.00	228.50	12.00	796.00	238.50	35.00	656.00	10.00	23.00	
BTWN_ST3_ST4	TAN_CLAY	140.00	228.50	10.00	796.00	238.50	12.00	656.00	10.00	2.00	
BTWN_ST3_ST4	SANDY1	140.00	228.50	0.00	796.00	238.50	10.00	656.00	10.00	10.00	
BTWN ST4 ST5	CLAYEY	140.00	258.50	51.00	796.00	268.50	55.00	656.00	10.00	4.00	

D	•	•	0
$P \Delta x$	710	1011	
nυ	/ 13	лон	U U

Segment	Material	Coordinates (lower-left,ft)			((u)	Coordinates pper-right,	Lengths (ft)			
	Zone	x	у	z	x	у	z	dx	dy	dz
BTWN ST4 ST5	CLAYEY	140.00	258.50	43.87	796.00	268.50	51.00	656.00	10.00	7.13
BTWN_ST4_ST5	CLAYEY	140.00	258.50	35.00	796.00	268.50	43.87	656.00	10.00	8.87
BTWN_ST4_ST5	SANDY2	140.00	258.50	12.00	796.00	268.50	35.00	656.00	10.00	23.00
BTWN_ST4_ST5	TAN_CLAY	140.00	258.50	10.00	796.00	268.50	12.00	656.00	10.00	2.00
BTWN ST4 ST5	SANDY1	140.00	258.50	0.00	796.00	268.50	10.00	656.00	10.00	10.00

Hydraulic and transport properties of the porous media in a slit trench are specified prior to and after dynamic compaction for each material type. Nominal parameter values for saturated effective diffusion coefficient (De), porosity, dry bulk density (rhob) and particle density (rhop) for each material type are given in Table 3-5.

ID	Material	De	Porosity	rhob	rhop	Time	period
	Name	(cm²/yr)		(g/cm ³)	(g/cm ³)	0 to 171 yrs	171 to 5000 yrs
UpperVadoseZone	Upper Vadose Zone	167.25528	0.385	1.6544	2.69	BTWN CLAYEY TAN_CLAY	BTWN CLAYEY TAN_CLAY
LowerVadoseZone	Lower Vadose Zone	167.25528	0.380	1.6554	2.67	SANDY2 SANDY1	SANDY2 SANDY1
OscBefore (OSC1)	E-Area Operational Soil Cover Before Dynamic Compaction	167.25528	0.456	1.4417	2.65	BACKFILL	
OscAfter (OSC2)	E-Area Operational Soil Cover After Dynamic Compaction	126.2304	0.275	1.9222	2.65		BACKFILL NDC_WASTE
SThybridBC	ST hybrid waste before DC	167.25528	0.600	1.0590	2.65	DC_WASTE NDC_WASTE	
SThybridAC	ST hybrid waste after DC	126.2304	0.275	1.9222	2.65		DC_WASTE

 Table 3-5. Hydraulic and transport properties of porous media in a slit trench.

4.0 GoldSim Vadose Zone Models

ELLWF Trench GoldSim Models were built using the Contaminant Transport Module in GoldSim version 12.1.3 #192 (March 13, 2019). The GoldSim cell pathway element was used to build a column and cell network for modeling the advective and diffusive transport of radionuclides below the operational soil cover to the water table in the ST and ET. The cell pathway allows inventory transfer within the waste zone during dynamic compaction. The cell pathway accommodates back diffusion which can occur after dynamic compaction of the waste zone. The GoldSim ET trench model includes intact and subsidence cell pathway elements. The GoldSim ST trench model includes intact, between segment and subsidence cell pathway elements. Dynamic compaction of the waste zone and subsidence are assumed to occur at the end of IC.

4.1 Dashboard User Interface

The home screen of the ELLWF Trench System Model is shown in Figure 4-1. The model at this level contains 10 containers and 2 hyperlinks. The GoldSim benchmarking effort involves development and benchmarking of the vadose zone models contained within the Transport container. References to containers outside the Transport container will be described during the documentation of the vadose zone models.



Figure 4-1. Top-Level container of the ELLWF Trench System Model.

Clicking the "Home Dashboard" hyperlink accesses the "Home Dashboard for the Slit Trench Model", Figure 4-2, where the user can move to the Model Switches and Slit Trenches dashboards. The dashboard contains the Simulation Settings and Run Model buttons. *This dashboard will be updated to include hyperlinks to engineered and slit trench dashboards when vadose zone models are linked to new aquifer zone models.*

Revision 0



Figure 4-2. Home dashboard for the slit trench model.

Clicking the Model Switches hyperlink, Figure 4-3, accesses the "General Model Simulation Controls". The user can choose to allow diffusion in water, chemical retardation and institutional control. This dashboard also controls the subsidence parameters that are used in the engineered trench vadose zone portion of the model. Specific disposal unit controls can be selected via the Slit Trenches dashboard. The dashboard contains the Simulation Settings, Run Model and Home buttons. *This dashboard will be updated to include hyperlinks to engineered and slit trench dashboards when vadose zone models are linked to new aquifer zone models.*
Revision 0

Processes included	
 Allow diffusion in water Allow chemical retardation (use of Kds) 	Allow institutional control
Specific disposal unit controls:	Other controls Percent of footprint under hole(s) to model subsidence Location of the subsided region (hole)
Simulation Settings	Run Model Home

General Model Simulation Controls

Figure 4-3. General model simulation controls.

The Slit Trenches dashboard, Figure 4-4, allows the user to select which trench to model, inventory parent(s) to run and inventory options. *This dashboard will be updated to include settings for engineered and slit trenches when vadose zone models are linked to new aquifer zone models.*

Controls Specific to the Trenches

- Trench Selection	Inventory
Slit Trench 6 Select specific trench to model	
	Use unit inventories rather than actual inventories.
	If unit inventory is selected, the following settings are overridden:
	Include currently disposed inventory.
- Inventory: Parent(s) to Run	
Species without	Logic unit inventory? True check: disposed inventory? False
✓ U-238	specific trench? False
Np-237	
Model Switches	Run Model Home

Figure 4-4. Controls specific to the slit trenches.

Revision 0

The Transport container in the GoldSim system model contains the vadose zone models for engineered and slit trenches as shown in Figure 4-5. The WasteZone and VadoseZone containers encapsulate the engineered trench vadose zone models. The WasteZoneST and VadoseZoneST localized containers encapsulate the slit trench vadose zone models. The ToSeep aquifer transport container is available but not used in this model as the 100-m well is the POA.



Figure 4-5. GoldSim vadose zone models for engineered and slit trenches.

The GoldSim engineered and slit trench vadose zone models will be described in Sections 4.2 and 4.3, respectively

4.2 GoldSim Engineered Trench Vadose Zone Model

The conceptual model of the engineered trench vadose zone is shown schematically in Figure 4-6. The closure cap is not explicitly modeled but accounted by utilizing volume-averaged vertical Darcy velocities and water saturations extracted from the PORFLOW ET vadose zone flow models. The vadose zone is modeled by a series of one-dimensional (1-D) Waste Zone (spanning the entire thickness of the UVZ) and LVZ (comprised of Sandy and Clayey layers) cell pathways. The cell pathways are connected via advective and diffusive fluxes. Lateral advective and diffusive fluxes to and from the overall engineered trench footprint were not modeled in the GoldSim ET VZ model. The two series represent areas within the trench that contain either crushable containers (intact cap case) or non-crushable containers (subsided cap case) as described in Section 3.1.



Figure 4-6. Schematic of the GoldSim engineered trench vadose zone conceptual model.

The WasteZone container includes the WasteZone_Crushed and WasteZone_Noncrushed containers as shown in Figure 4-7. These containers encapsulate the GoldSim engineered trench waste zone models.



Figure 4-7. GoldSim engineered trench waste zone containers.

The VadoseZone container includes the VadoseZone_Crushed and VadoseZone_Noncrushed containers as shown in Figure 4-8. These containers encapsulate the GoldSim engineered trench lower vadose zone models.



Figure 4-8. GoldSim engineered trench lower vadose zone containers.

The WasteZone_Crushed and WasteZone_Noncrushed containers have advective and diffusive flux links to the VadoseZone_Crushed and VadoseZone_Noncrushed containers, respectively.

Vertical Darcy velocities and water saturations from the PORFLOW ET vadose zone flow simulations, are extracted for each steady-state simulation (time period) and averaged within user specified material zones for the GoldSim ET VZ model. Volume-averaged vertical Darcy velocities are computed for each intact and subsided cell pathway column (WZ and LVZ) within the GoldSim ET VZ model.

The ST06/ET Case01 vertical velocities through the WZ and LVZ are shown in Figure 4-9. The AVERAGE velocities are input data into the Velocity_Intact_Case01 time series element (WaterTransport_Vadose). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrates in the Flowrate_Intact_Case01 expression elements (WasteZone_Crushed and VadoseZone_Crushed).



Figure 4-9. ST06/ET Case01 vertical velocities in the WZ and LVZ.

Revision 0

The ST06/ET Case11b vertical velocities through the WZ and LVZ in Hole 2 are shown in Figure 4-10. The AVERAGE velocities are data input to the Velocity_Hole2 time series element (WaterTransport_Vadose). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrates in the Flowrate_H2 expression elements (WasteZone_Noncrushed and VadoseZone_Noncrushed).



Figure 4-10. ST06/ET Case11b vertical velocities through the WZ and LVZ in Hole 2.

4.2.1 Intact and Subsided Waste Zone Models

The waste zone is represented by a series of cell pathways. The flow area is the product of the trench width (157 ft) and the length (656 ft). The area is also multiplied by the fraction of the waste that is either crushable or non-crushable depending which series the cells represent. The fraction of non-crushable waste (Hole 2 area) is set to 2% of engineered trench waste area. To model dynamic compaction at the end of IC, the waste zone is separated into two sections: 22 cells in the upper waste zone (NDC_WASTE) and 6 cells in the lower waste zone (DC_WASTE) as shown in Figure 4-11. The height of the NDC_WASTE and DC_WASTE cells are 13.5 ft/22 (0.6136 ft) and 2.5 ft/6 (0.4167 ft), respectively.

Revision 0



Figure 4-11. GoldSim engineered trench waste zone cell pathways.

The cell pathway properties for WasteZone_02_1 are shown in Figure 4-12 and Figure 4-13. The data requirements of the waste zone cell pathways are described in this section.

Revision 0

Cell Pathway Properties : WasteZone02_1 X	Cell Pathwa	y Prope	erties : Wa	steZone02_1	
Definition Inflows Outflows Diffusive Fluxes	Definition	Inflows	Outflows	Diffusive Fluxes	
Element ID: WasteZone02_1 Appearance	List of Inf	lows			
Densitives	Fi	rom Path	nway	To Pathway	Medium
Description:	WasteZ	lone01_	1	WasteZone02_1	Water
Media in Cell					
Medium Amount F H S					
Water UpperWasteCellVolume * WaterContent_NDC					
Waste UpperWasteCellVolume * Waste:Density					
Add Medium Delete Medium	Add	Inflow s of Sele	ected Inflo	w	
Cell Inventory	Inflow:		WasteZo	ne02_1.Water_from_Wa	asteZone01_1
Cumulative Input V	Link Ty	pe:	Coupled		
Discrete Changes: DisposalEvent_Upper;ZeroMassInNDC 94	Flow Ra	ate:	Flowrate	Intact	
Save Masses in Pathway	Species	s flux rate	es: 🗌 S	ave Final Values	Save Time History
Output Precipitated Mass					
Final Values Time History					
OK Cancel Help				ОК	Cancel Help

Figure 4-12. WasteZone_02_1 cell pathway properties: Definition and Inflows.

Cell Pathway Properties : Was	steZone02_1		× C	ell Pathway Propert	ies : WasteZone()2_1		2
Definition Inflows Outflows	Diffusive Fluxes			efinition Inflows (Outflows Diffusive	e Fluxes		
List of Outflows				List of Diffusive Flu	ixes			
From Pathway	To Pathway	Medium		From Pathway	Fluid	To Pathway	Fluid	
WasteZone02_1	WasteZone03_1	Water		WasteZone02_1	Water	WasteZone03_1	Water	
Add Outflow Dek Properties of Selected Outfl Outflow: Waste Zor	ste Outflow ow ue02 1 Water to Waste7	'one03 1		Add Flux Properties of Select	Delete Flux	Vater to Water in V	Note Zana 02 1	
Link Type: Coupled		-		Link Type: (Counled		Matezoneos_1	
Flow Rate: Flowrate	Intact			Line type:	WasteZone(02.1 Wa	asteZone03 1	
Species flux rates: S	ave Final Values 🗌 Sa	ave Time History		Length: Porous Medium:	UpperWasteCellT Waste	hickness / Upper	WasteCellThickness	× /
Total outflow rate of Water = :	2859 m3/yr			Diffusive Area: Species flux rates	Disposal Unit Area	_STcrushed * Waterl	Diffusion_Switch Time History	
	ОК	Cancel Help			[OK	Cancel He	elp

Figure 4-13. WasteZone_02_1 cell pathway properties: Outflows and Diffusive Fluxes.

An initial inventory of 1 mol is assigned to each parent radionuclide and tracer. The parent radionuclide inventories are converted to grams internally for use throughout the waste and vadose zone models. For the ST06/ET footprint, the initial inventory is distributed between crushable and

Revision 0

non-crushable waste zones 12 years after the start of ELLWF operations. Within each crushable and non-crushable waste zone, species inventories are further distributed between upper and lower waste zones. Discrete change elements DisposalEvent_Upper and DisposalEvent_Lower trigger the placement of species inventories in upper and lower waste zone cells, respectively. The species inventories distributed to each crushable upper and lower waste zone cell are computed in Eqs 4-1 and 4-2, respectively.

$$I_{NDC_cell,crushed} = I_p f_{crushed} \frac{H_{NDC_cell}}{H_{WZ}}$$
(4-1)

$$I_{DC_cell_crushed} = I_p f_{crushed} \frac{H_{DC_cell}}{H_{WZ}}$$
(4-2)

where

NDC_cell,crushed ·····	.species inventory of NDC cell crushed, g
DC_cell,crushed ·····	species inventory of DC cell crushed, g
[p	inventory of parent radionuclide, g
Cerushed ·····	fraction of crushable waste, 0.98
H _{NDC_cell}	height of NDC waste cell, 13.5 ft/22.
H _{DC_cell}	.height of DC waste cell, 2.5 ft/6
H _{wz}	height of waste zone, 16 ft.

The species inventories distributed to each non-crushable upper and lower waste zone cell are computed in Eqs. 4-3 and 4-4, respectively.

$$I_{\text{NDC}_\text{cell,noncrushed}} = I_{\text{p}} f_{\text{noncrushed}} \frac{H_{\text{NDC}_\text{cell}}}{H_{\text{WZ}}}$$
(4-3)

$$I_{DC_cell_noncrushed} = I_p f_{noncrushed} \frac{H_{DC_cell}}{H_{WZ}}$$
(4-4)

where

I_{NDC_cell,noncrushed}.....species inventory of NDC cell noncrushed, g

 $f_{noncrushed} fraction \ of \ non-crushable \ waste, 0.02$

When the final cap is emplaced at end of IC, the species inventories (Mass_In_Pathway) within the upper waste zone are transferred to the lower waste zone using a series of discrete change elements (AddMassFromNDC, ZeroMassinNDC and AddMasstoDC) as well as a mass collector cell pathway (MassCollector). The AddMassFromNDC element sums the Mass_In_Pathway from WasteZone01_1 to WasteZone22 cell pathways and makes them available in the MassCollector. The ZeroMassinNDC element replaces the species inventories in the upper waste zone with zero

values. The AddMassToDC element adds and distributes the species inventories from the upper waste zone evenly among the lower waste zone cell pathways.

The ST06/ET Case01 water saturations in the WZ are shown in Figure 4-14. The NDC_WASTE and DC_WASTE water saturations are data inputs to the Saturation_NDC_Case01 and Saturation_DC_Case01 expression elements, respectively. These water saturations are used to compute water contents in the WaterContent_NDC_Case01 and WaterContent_DC_Case01 expression elements (WasteZone Crushed).



Figure 4-14. ST06/ET Case01 water saturations in the WZ.

The ST06/ET Case11b water saturations in the WZ of Hole 2 are shown in Figure 4-15. The NDC_WASTE and DC_WASTE water saturations are data inputs to the Saturation_NDC and Saturation_DC time series elements, respectively. These water saturations are used to compute water contents in the WaterContent_NDC and WaterContent_DC expression elements (WasteZone_Noncrushed).



Figure 4-15. ST06/ET Case11b water saturations in the WZ of Hole 2.

4.2.2 Lower Vadose Zone Models

Advective and diffusive species mass flow rates leave the waste zone and enter the upper sandy layer (SANDY2) of each intact and subsided lower vadose zone. Each section is modeled by a series of 30 cell pathways. After leaving the upper sandy layer, species mass flow rates go through 5 cell pathways in the clayey layer (TAN_CLAY) and then 8 cell pathways in the lower sandy layer (SANDY1). Although many DUs have two layers of clayey soil separated by sandy layers, the clayey layers are combined in the system model. This is consistent with the PORFLOW vadose zone model and produces only a ~1% difference in flux to the water table (Danielson 2019). The representation of the lower vadose zone is given in Figure 4-16. The height of the SANDY2, TAN_CLAY and SANDY1 cells are 23 ft/30 (0.7667 ft), 2 ft/5 (0.4 ft) and 10 ft/8 (1.25 ft), respectively.

Revision 0



Figure 4-16. GoldSim engineered trench lower vadose zone cell pathways.

The cell pathway properties for Clayey_1 are shown in Figure 4-17 and Figure 4-18. The data requirements of the lower vadose zone cell pathways are described in this section.

Revision 0

Cell Pathway Properties : Clayey_1 X	Cell Pathway Properties : Clayey_1 X
Definition Inflows Outflows Diffusive Fluxes	Definition Inflows Outflows Diffusive Fluxes
Element ID: Clayey_1 Appearance	List of Inflows
Description	From Pathway To Pathway Medium
V	UpperSandy_30 Clayey_1 Water
Media in Cell	
Medium Amount F H S	
Water DisposalUnitArea_STcrushed*ClayeyCell_Th	
ClayeySoil DisposalUnitArea_STcrushed*ClayeyCell_Th	
	Add Inflow Delete Inflow
Add Medium Delete Medium	
	Properties of Selected Inflow
Cell Inventory	Inflow: Clayey_1.Water_from_UpperSandy_30
Initial Inventory V	Link Type: Coupled
Discrete Changes:	Flow Rate: Flowrate_Intact
	Species flux rates: Save Final Values Save Time History
Save Masses in Pathway	
Output Precipitated Mass	
☐ Final Values	
OK Cancel Help	OK Cancel Help

Figure 4-17. Clayey_1 cell pathway properties: Definition and Inflows.

	iyey_i			en ratiway riopert	ies : ciayey_1			
efinition Inflows Outflows	Diffusive Fluxes			Definition Inflows C	Outflows Diffusion	ve Fluxes		
List of Outflows			_	List of Diffusive Flu	xes			
From Pathway	To Pathway	Medium		From Pathway	Fluid	To Pathway	Fluid	
Clayey_1	Clayey_2	Water		Clayey_1	Water	Clayey_2	Water	
				UpperSandy_30	Water	Clayey_1	Water]
Add Outflow De Properties of Selected Outfl Outflow: Clavev 1	lete Outflow			Add Flux Properties of Select Diffusive Flux:	Delete Flu ted Diffusive Flux	x	2	
Add Outflow Del Properties of Selected Outfl Outflow: Clayey_1 Link Type: Coupled	lete Outflow low .Water_to_Clayey_2			Add Flux Properties of Select Diffusive Flux: C	Delete Flu ted Diffusive Flux layey_1.Water_t	x o_Water_in_Clayey_2	2	
Add Outflow Del Properties of Selected Outfl Outflow: Clayey_1 Link Type: Coupled Row Rate: Rowrate	lete Outflow low .Water_to_Clayey_2 _Intact			Add Flux Properties of Select Diffusive Flux: C Link Type: C	Delete Flu ted Diffusive Flux Clayey_1.Water_tr Coupled Clayey_	x o_Water_in_Clayey_? 1	2 Clayey_2	
Add Outflow Del Properties of Selected Outfl Outflow: Clayey_1 Link Type: Coupled Flow Rate: Flowrate Sension flux rates: C	lete Outflow Now Water_to_Clayey_2 Intact	Trans I linkson		Add Flux Properties of Select Diffusive Flux: C Link Type: C Length:	Delete Flu ted Diffusive Flux layey_1.Water_to coupled Clayey_ ClayeyCell_Thick	x o_Water_in_Clayey_2 _1 mess/2 Clayey	2 Clayey_2 yCell_Thickness/2	
Add Outflow Del Properties of Selected Outfl Outflow: Clayey_1 Link Type: Coupled Row Rate: Rowrate Species flux rates: Specie	lete Outflow Now Water_to_Clayey_2 _Intact Save Final Values	ve Time History		Add Flux Properties of Select Diffusive Flux: C Link Type: C Length: Porous Medium:	Delete Flu ted Diffusive Flux layey_1.Water_to coupled Clayey_ ClayeyCell_Thick ClayeySoil	x o_Water_in_Clayey_i 1 cness/2 Clayey Clayey	2 Clayey_2 yCell_Thickness/2 ySoil	~
Add Outflow Del Properties of Selected Outfl Outflow: Clayey_1 Link Type: Coupled Row Rate: Rowrate Species flux rates: S Total outflow rate of Water =	lete Outflow Iow Water_to_Clayey_2 Intact Save Final Values Save 2859 m3/yr	ve Time History		Add Flux Properties of Select Diffusive Flux: C Link Type: C Length: Porous Medium: Diffusive Area:	Delete Flu ted Diffusive Flux layey_1.Water_tr ioupled ClayeyCell_Thick ClayeySoil DisposalUnitArea	x o_Water_in_Clayey_i 	2 Clayey_2 yCell_Thickness/2 ySoil Diffusion_Switch	~
Add Outflow Del Properties of Selected Outfl Outflow: Clayey_1 Link Type: Coupled Row Rate: Rowrate Species flux rates: S Fotal outflow rate of Water =	lete Outflow Now Water_to_Clayey_2 _Intact Save Final Values Sa 2859 m3/yr	ve Time History		Add Flux Properties of Select Diffusive Flux: C Link Type: C Length: Porous Medium: Diffusive Area: Species flux rates:	Delete Flu Delete Flu ted Diffusive Flux layey_1.Water_tr ioupled ClayeyCell_Thick ClayeySoil DisposalUnitArea Save Final	x o_Water_in_Clayey_i clayes c	2 Clayey_2 yCell_Thickness/2 ySoil Diffusion_Switch Time History	~

Figure 4-18. Clayey_1 cell pathway properties: Outflows and Diffusive Fluxes.

The ST06/ET Case01 water saturations in the LVZ are shown in Figure 4-19. The SANDY2, TAN_CLAY, and SANDY1 water saturations are data inputs to the Saturation_Sandy1_Intact,

Saturation_Clay_Intact and Saturation_Sandy2_Intact expression elements, respectively (within the /Transport/VadoseZone/VadoseZone_Crushed/VZ_Nominal_Flow container).



Figure 4-19. ST06/ET Case01 water saturations in the LVZ.

The ST06/ET Case11b water saturations in the LVZ of Hole 2 are shown in Figure 4-20. The SANDY2, TAN_CLAY and SANDY1 water saturations are data inputs to the Saturation_Sandy1_Hole2, Saturation_Clay_Hole2 and Saturation_Sandy2_Hole2 expression elements, respectively (within the /Transport/VadoseZone_Noncrushed/VZ_Nominal_Flow container).



Figure 4-20. ST06/ET Case11b water saturations in the LVZ of Hole 2.

4.3 GoldSim Slit Trench Vadose Zone Model

The initial conceptual model of the GoldSim slit trench vadose zone is shown schematically in Figure 4-21. This model includes the five individual slit trench segments (ST1 to ST5) separated by 10-foot wide non-waste segments with 8.5-foot wide non-waste segments outside ST1 and ST5 segments. A single intact slit trench segment advects and diffuses into non-waste segments on either side of the segment. The subsided slit trench segment advects and diffuses from the hole to the intact portion of the slit segment and into non-waste segments on either side of the subsided slit segment. The advective fluxes from the slit segment to the non-waste segment were not modelled due to the lack of detailed water budget information within the ST layout. Advective and diffusive fluxes to and from the overall ST06/ST footprint were not modeled in the GoldSim ST VZ model.

To reduce the development effort of the GoldSim ST vadose zone model, symmetry of the ST layout was utilized to separately model a single intact and subsided ST segment as shown in Figure 4-22 and Figure 4-23, respectively. The intact and subsided slit trench segments are further simplified as shown in the right-hand side of the figures. The subsided case evaluated is Hole 2 located in the ST5 trench segment as shown in Figure 3-2. In Figure 4-23, the black downward arrows represent the change in infiltration due to subsidence.

The closure cap is not explicitly modeled but accounted for by utilizing volume-averaged vertical Darcy velocities and water saturations extracted from the PORFLOW ST vadose zone flow models. The vadose zone is modeled by a series of Waste Zone and non-waste zone (spanning the entire thickness of the UVZ), and LVZ (comprised of Sandy and Clayey layers) cell networks. The cell networks are connected via advective and diffusive fluxes. The intact and subsided series represent areas within the trench that contain either crushable containers (intact cap case), non-waste, or non-crushable containers (subsided cap case) as described in Section 3.2.



Figure 4-21. Schematic of the GoldSim slit trench five segment VZ model.



Figure 4-22. Schematic of the GoldSim slit trench intact segment (S1 to S4) VZ model.





The WasteZoneST container in Figure 4-5 includes the WasteZone_Intact and WasteZone_Subsided containers as shown in Figure 4-24. These localized containers encapsulate the GoldSim slit trench waste zone models.

Revision 0



Figure 4-24. GoldSim slit trench waste zone containers.

The VadoseZoneST container in Figure 4-5 includes the VadoseZone_Intact and VadoseZone_Subsided containers as shown in Figure 4-25. These localized containers encapsulate the GoldSim slit trench lower vadose zone models.



Figure 4-25. GoldSim slit trench lower vadose zone containers.

The WasteZone_Intact and WasteZone_Subsided containers have advective and diffusive flux links to the VadoseZone_Intact and VadoseZone_Subsided containers, respectively.

Vertical Darcy velocities and water saturations from the PORFLOW ST vadose zone flow simulations, are extracted for each steady-state simulation (time period) and averaged within user specified material zones for the GoldSim ST VZ model. Volume-averaged vertical Darcy velocities are computed for each intact and subsided cell network (WZ, UVZ and LVZ) within the GoldSim ST VZ model.

The ST06/ST Case01 average vertical velocities in slit segments 1 through 5 (WZ and LVZ) are shown in Figure 4-26. The AVERAGE velocities are input data into the Velocity_NDC_ST and Velocity_DC_ST time series elements (within the /Transport/WasteZoneST/WasteZone_Intact

Revision 0

container). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrates in the Flowrate_NDC_ST and Flowrate_DC_ST expression elements. The AVERAGE velocities are input data into the Velocity_US_ST, Velocity_TC_ST and Velocity_LS_ST time series elements (within /Transport/VadoseZoneST/VadoseZone_Intact container). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrates in the Flowrate_US_ST, Flowrate_TC_ST and Flowrate_LS_ST expression elements.



Figure 4-26. ST06/ST Case01 average vertical velocities in slit segements 1 through 5 (WZ and LVZ).

The ST06/ST Case01 average vertical velocities between slit segments (BS) in the UVZ and LVZ are shown in Figure 4-27. The AVERAGE velocities are input data into the Velocity_NDC_BS and Velocity_DC_BS time series elements (within /Transport/WasteZoneST/WasteZone_Intact container). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrates in the Flowrate_NDC_BS and Flowrate_DC_BS expression elements. The AVERAGE velocities are input data into the Velocity_US_BS, Velocity_TC_BS and Velocity_LS_BS time series elements (within the /Transport/VadoseZoneST/VadoseZone_Intact container). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrate are used to compute volumetric flowrate series elements (within the /Transport/VadoseZoneST/VadoseZone_Intact container). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrates in the Flowrate_US_BS, Flowrate_TC_BS and Flowrate_LS_BS expression elements.



Figure 4-27. ST06/ST Case01 average vertical velocities between slit segments (UVZ and LVZ).

The ST06/ET Case11b vertical velocities through slit segment 5 (WZ and LVZ) are shown in Figure 4-28. The AVERAGE velocities are input data into the Velocity_NDC_ST and Velocity_DC_ST time series elements (within /Transport/WasteZoneST/WasteZone_Subsided container). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrates in the Flowrate_NDC_ST and Flowrate_DC_ST expression elements. The AVERAGE velocities are also input data into the Velocity_US_ST, Velocity_TC_ST and Velocity_LS_ST time series elements (within the /Transport/VadoseZoneST /VadoseZone_Subsided container). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrate are used to compute velocities are also input data into the velocity_US_ST, Velocity_TC_ST and Velocity_LS_ST time series elements (within the /Transport/VadoseZoneST /VadoseZone_Subsided container). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrates in the Flowrate_US_ST, Flowrate_TC_ST and Flowrate_LS_ST expression elements.



Figure 4-28. ST06/ST Case11b vertical velocities through slit segment 5 (WZ and LVZ).

The ST06/ST Case11b vertical velocities between slit segments 4 and 5 (UVZ and LVZ) are shown in Figure 4-29. The AVERAGE velocities are input data into the Velocity_NDC_BS and Velocity_DC_BS time series elements (within /Transport/WasteZoneST/WasteZone_Subsided container). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrates in the Flowrate_NDC_BS and Flowrate_DC_BS expression elements. The AVERAGE velocities are input data into the Velocity_US_BS, Velocity_TC_BS and Velocity_LS_BS time series elements (within /Transport/VadoseZoneST /VadoseZone_Subsided container). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrate are used to compute velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrates in the Flowrate_US_BS, Flowrate_TC_BS and Flowrate_LS_BS expression elements.



Figure 4-29. ST06/ST Case11b vertical velocities between slit segments 4 and 5 (UVZ and LVZ).

The ST06/ET Case11b vertical velocities through hole 2 (H2) in slit segment 5 (WZ and LVZ) are shown in Figure 4-30. The AVERAGE velocities are input data into the Velocity_NDC_H2 and Velocity_DC_H2 time series elements (within /Transport/WasteZoneST/WasteZone_Subsided container). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrates in the Flowrate_NDC_H2 and Flowrate_DC_H2 expression elements. The AVERAGE velocities are also input data into the Velocity_US_H2, Velocity_TC_H2 and Velocity_LS_H2 time series elements (in /Transport/VadoseZoneST /VadoseZone_Subsided container). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrate_IDC_H2 expression elements. The AVERAGE velocities are also input data into the Velocity_US_H2, Velocity_TC_H2 and Velocity_LS_H2 time series elements (in /Transport/VadoseZoneST /VadoseZone_Subsided container). These velocities are used to compute volumetric flowrates in the Flowrate_IS_H2 expression elements.



Figure 4-30. ST06/ST Case11b vertical velocities through H2 in slit segment 5 (WZ and LVZ).

4.3.1 Intact Waste Zone Model

The intact waste zone model is represented by a cell network consisting of a slit trench segment (ST) and clayey between segment (BS). Each column of ST and BS cell pathways are connected through advective and diffusive flux links. There are only diffusive flux links between the ST and BS as explained in an earlier section. The widths of the ST and BS are 20 ft and 10 ft, respectively. The length of the ST and BS is 656 ft. To model dynamic compaction at the end of IC, the waste zone is separated into two sections: 12 cell pathways in NDC_WASTE (NDC_ST) and 16 cell pathways in DC_WASTE (DC_ST). The adjacent cell pathways are designated NDC_BS and DC_BS, respectively. The GoldSim intact slit trench segment waste zone cell network is shown in Figure 4-31. The height of the NDC_(ST/BS) and DC_(ST/BS) cell pathways are 7.13 ft/12 (0.5942 ft) and 8.87 ft/16 (0.5544 ft), respectively.

Revision 0

NDC_ST_X1Y1 NDC_BS_X2Y1	DC_ST_X1Y1 DC_BS_X2Y1
NDC_ST_X1Y2	DC_ST_X1Y2
NDC_ST_X1Y3	DC_ST_X1Y3
NDC_ST_X1Y4 NDC_BS_X2Y4	DC_ST_X1Y4
NDC_ST_X1Y5 NDC_BS_X2Y5	DC_ST_X1Y5 DC_BS_X2Y5
NDC ST X1Y6 NDC BS X2Y6	DC ST X1Y6 DC BS X2Y6
\downarrow	\downarrow
NDC_ST_X1Y12	DC_ST_X1Y16 DC_BS_X2Y16

Figure 4-31. GoldSim intact slit trench segment waste zone cell network.

The cell pathway properties for NDC_ST_X1Y1 are shown in Figure 4-32 and Figure 4-33. The data requirements of the intact waste zone cell network are described in this section.

Revision 0

Cell Pathway Properties : NDC_ST_X1Y1 X	Cell Pathway Properties : NDC_ST_X1Y1 X
Definition Inflows Outflows Diffusive Fluxes	Definition Inflows Outflows Diffusive Fluxes
Element ID: NDC_ST_X1Y1 Appearance	List of Inflows
Description: NDC ST Cell 1	NDC_ST_X0Y0 NDC_ST_X1Y1 Water
Media in Cell	
Medium Amount F H S Water NDC_ST_Vol* WaterContent_NDC_ST Image: Content_NDC_ST Image: Content_NDC_ST	
Add Medium Delete Medium	Add Inflow Delete Inflow Properties of Selected Inflow
Cell Inventory	Inflow: NDC_ST_X1Y1.Water_from_NDC_ST_X0Y0
Initial Inventory	Link Type: Coupled
Discrete Changes: DisposalEvent_NDC:ZeroMassIn_NDC	How Rate: Howrate_NDC_ST
Save Masses in Pathway	Species flux rates: Save Final Values Save Time History
Output Precipitated Mass Final Values Time History	
OK Cancel Help	OK Cancel Help

Figure 4-32. NDC_ST_X1Y1 cell pathway properties: Definition and Inflows.

ell Pathway Properties : ND	C_ST_X1Y1		X Cel	II Pathway Properti	es : NDC_ST_X1	Y1		
Definition Inflows Outflows	Diffusive Fluxes		De	efinition Inflows O	utflows Diffusiv	e Fluxes		
List of Outflows				List of Diffusive Flux	es			
From Pathway	To Pathway	Medium		From Pathway	Fluid	To Pathway	Fluid	
NDC_ST_X1Y1	NDC_ST_X1Y2	Water		NDC_ST_X1Y1	Water	NDC_BS_X2Y1	Water	
				NDC_ST_X1Y1	Water	NDC_ST_X1Y2	Water	
Add Outflow Del Properties of Selected Outfl Outflow: NDC_ST	ete Outflow ow _X1Y1.Water_to_NDC_ST	r_x1Y2		Add Flux Properties of Select Diffusive Flux: N	Delete Flux ed Diffusive Flux DC_ST_X1Y1.W	/ater_to_Water_in_N	DC_BS_X2Y1	
Link Type: Coupled				Link Type: Co	oupled			
Flow Rate: Flowrate	NDC_ST				NDC_ST_>	(1Y1 NI	DC_BS_X2Y1	
Species flux rates:	euro Grael Valuero 🗆 Ca	Time Ukatan		Length:	NDC_ST_DL_X	NDC_	BS_DL_X	
		ave nine history		Porous Medium:	Naste	~ Clavey	/Soil	~
Total outflow rate of Water =	603.3 m3/yr			Diff. with a Armon I				_
				Diffusive Area:	VDC_12_Alea			
				Species flux rates:	Save Final	Values Save]	Time History	

Figure 4-33. NDC_ST_X1Y1 cell pathway properties: Outflows and Diffusive Fluxes.

An initial inventory of 1/5 mol is assigned to each parent radionuclide and tracer. The parent radionuclide inventories are converted to grams internally for use throughout the waste and vadose zone models. For ST06/ST, the species inventories are distributed between NDC and DC waste

zones 12 years after the start of ELLWF operations. Discrete change elements DisposalEvent_NDC and DisposalEvent_DC trigger the placement of species inventories in NDC_ST and DC_ST cell pathways, respectively. The species inventories distributed to each NDC_ST and DC_ST cell pathways are computed in Eqs 4-5 and 4-6, respectively.

$$I_{NDC_ST} = I_p \frac{H_{NDC_ST}}{H_{WZ}}$$
(4-5)

$$I_{DC_ST} = I_p \frac{H_{DC_ST}}{H_{WZ}}$$
(4-6)

I _{NDC_ST}	species inventory of NDC_ST cell, g
I _{DC_ST}	species inventory of DC_ST cell, g
I _p	inventory of parent radionuclide, g
H _{NDC_ST}	height of NDC_ST cell, 7.13 ft/12
H _{DC_ST}	height of DC_ST cell, 8.87 ft/16
H _{WZ}	height of waste zone, 16 ft

When the final cap is emplaced at end of IC, the species inventories (Mass_In_Pathway) within NDC_ST cell pathways are transferred to the DC_ST cell pathways. A series of discrete change elements (AddMassFrom_NDC, ZeroMassin_NDC and AddMassto_DC) and a cell pathway (MassCollector_NDC) were used to transfer the species inventories. The AddMassFrom_NDC element sums the Mass_In_Pathway from NDC_ST cell pathways and makes them available in the MassCollector. The ZeroMassin_NDC element replaces the species inventories in the NDC_ST cell pathways with zero values. The AddMassTo_DC element adds and distributes the species inventories from the NDC_ST cell pathways evenly among the DC_ST cell pathways.

The ST06/ST Case01 average water saturations in slit segments 1 through 5 (WZ) are shown in Figure 4-34. The NDC_WASTE and DC_WASTE water saturations are data inputs to the Saturation_NDC_ST and Saturation_DC_ST expression elements, respectively. These water saturations are used to compute water contents in the WaterContent_NDC_ST and WaterContent_DC_ST expression elements (within /Transport/WasteZoneST/WasteZone_Intact container).

where



Figure 4-34. ST06/ST Case01 average water saturations in slit segments 1 through 5 (WZ).

The ST06/ST Case01 average water saturations between slit segments (UVZ) are shown in Figure 4-35. The water saturations in the NDC_WASTE and DC_WASTE regions are data inputs to the Saturation_NDC_BS and Saturation_DC_BS expression elements, respectively. These water saturations are used to compute water contents in the WaterContent_NDC_BS and WaterContent_DC_BS expression elements (within /Transport/WasteZoneST/WasteZone_Intact container).



Figure 4-35. ST06/ST Case01 average water saturations between slit segments (UVZ).

4.3.2 Subsided Waste Zone Model

The subsided waste zone model is represented by a cell network consisting of a slit trench segment (ST), clayey between segment (BS) and subsided hole (H2). Each column of ST, BS and H2 cell pathways are connected through advective and diffusive flux links. There are only diffusive flux links between the ST to BS and H2 to BS pairs as explained in an earlier section. The width of the ST/H2 and BS are 20 ft and 10 ft, respectively. The length of the ST, BS and H2 are 556 ft, 656 ft and 100 ft, respectively. To model dynamic compaction at the end of IC, the waste zone is separated into two sections: 12 cell pathways in NDC_WASTE (NDC_ST and NDC_H2) and 16 cell pathways in DC_WASTE (DC_ST and DC_H2). The adjacent cell pathways are designated NDC_BS and DC_BS, respectively. The GoldSim subsided slit trench segment waste zone cell network is shown in Figure 4-36. The height of the NDC_(ST/BS/H2) and DC_(ST/BS/H2) cell pathways are 7.13 ft/12 (0.5942 ft) and 8.87 ft/16 (0.5544 ft), respectively.

NDC_ST_X1Y1	NDC_BS_X2Y1	NDC_H2_X3Y1	DC_ST_XIY1	DC_BS_X2Y1	DC_H2_X3Y1
NDC_ST_X1Y2	NDC_BS_X2Y2	NDC_H2_X3Y2	DC_ST_X1Y2	DC_BS_X2Y2	DC_H2_X3Y2
NDC_ST_X1Y3	NDC_BS_X2Y3	NDC_H2_X3Y3	DC_ST_X1Y3	DC_BS_X2Y3	DC_H2_X3Y3
NDC_ST_X1Y4	NDC_B5_X2Y4	NDC_H2_X3Y4	DC_ST_X1Y4	DC_BS_X2Y4	DC_H2_X3Y4
NDC_ST_X1Y5	NDC_BS_X2Y5	NDC_H2_X3Y5	DC_ST_X1Y5	DC_BS_X2Y5	DC_H2_X3Y5
NDC_ST_X1Y6	NDC_BS_X2Y6	DC H2 X3Y6	DC ST X1Y6	DC BS X2Y6	DC H2 X3Y6
	\downarrow			\downarrow	
NDC_ST_X1Y12	NDC_BS_X2Y12		DC_ST_X1Y16	DC_BS_X2Y16	DC_H2_X3Y16

Figure 4-36. GoldSim subsided slit trench segment waste zone cell network.

The cell pathway properties for NDC_H2_X3Y1 are shown in Figure 4-37 and Figure 4-38. The data requirements of the subsided waste zone cell network are described in this section.

Revision 0

Cell Pathway Properties : NDC_H2_X3Y1 X	Cell Pathway Properties : NDC_H2_X3Y1	×
Definition Inflows Outflows Diffusive Fluxes	Definition Inflows Outflows Diffusive Fluxes	
Element ID: NDC_H2_X3Y1 Appearance	List of Inflows	
Description: NDC H2 Cell 1	NDC_H2_X3Y0 NDC_H2_X3Y1 Water	
Media in Cell		
Medium Amount F H S Water NDC_H2_Vol* WaterContent_NDC_H2 Image: Content_NDC_H2 Image: Content_N		
Add Medium Delete Medium	Add Inflow Delete Inflow	
Cell Inventory	Inflow: NDC_H2_X3Y1.Water_from_NDC_H2_X3Y0	
Initial Inventory V	Link Type: Coupled	
Discrete Changes: DisposalEvent_NDC_H2;ZeroMassIn_NDC_I	How Rate: Flowrate_NDC_H2	
Save Masses in Pathway	Species flux rates: Save Final Values Save Time History	
Output Precipitated Mass		
Final Values Time History		
OK Cancel Help	OK Cancel Help	

Figure 4-37. NDC_H2_X3Y1 cell pathway properties: Definition and Inflows.

Cell Pathway Properties : NDO	C_H2_X3Y1		×	Cell Pa	thway Proper	ties : NDC_H2_X	3Y1		
Definition Inflows Outflows	Diffusive Fluxes			Definit	ion Inflows	Outflows Diffusiv	re Fluxes		
List of Outflows				Lis	t of Diffusive Flu	uxes			
From Pathway	To Pathway	Medium			From Pathway	/ Fluid	To Pathway	Fluid	
NDC_H2_X3Y1	NDC_H2_X3Y2	Water		N	DC_H2_X3Y1	Water	NDC_BS_X2Y1	Water	
				N	DC_H2_X3Y1	Water	NDC_H2_X3Y2	Water	
Add Outflow Dek Properties of Selected Outflo Outflow: NDC_H2_ Link Tune: Counted	ete Outflow ow _X3Y1.Water_to_NDC_H2_	Х3Ү2		- Pro	Add Flux operties of Select ffusive Flux:	Delete Flux cted Diffusive Flux NDC_H2_X3Y1.W	k later_to_Water_in_N	IDC_BS_X2Y1	
Elem Pate: Elemente	NDC U2		-		к туре.		(2V1 NI	DC BS V2V1	
Species flux rates: Sa	ave Final Values Sav	e Time History		Le	ngth: rous Medium:	NDC_ST_DL_X	NDC_	BS_DL_X	~
Total outflow rate of Water = 1	122.9 m3/yr			Di Sp	ffusive Area: pecies flux rates	NDC_H2_YZ_An	ea Values Save	Time History	
	ОК	Cancel Help				[ОК	Cancel	Help

Figure 4-38. NDC_H2_X3Y1 cell pathway properties: Outflows and Diffusive Fluxes.

An initial inventory of 1/5 mol is assigned to each parent radionuclide and tracer. The parent radionuclide inventories are converted to grams internally for use throughout the waste and vadose zone models. For ST06/ST, the species inventories are distributed between NDC and DC waste

zones 12 years after the start of ELLWF operations. Discrete change elements DisposalEvent_NDC_ST, DisposalEvent_NDC_H2, DisposalEvent_DC_ST and DisposalEvent_DC_H2 trigger the placement of species inventories in NDC_ST, NDC_H2, DC_ST and DC_H2 cell pathways, respectively. The species inventories distributed to each NDC ST and DC ST cell pathways are computed in Eqs 4-7 and 4-8, respectively.

$$I_{NDC_ST} = I_p f_{ST} \frac{H_{NDC_ST}}{H_{WZ}}$$
(4-7)

$$I_{DC_ST} = I_p f_{ST} \frac{H_{DC_ST}}{H_{WZ}}$$
(4-8)

where

I _{NDC_ST}	species inventory of NDC_ST cell, g
I _{DC_ST}	species inventory of DC_ST cell, g
I _p	inventory of parent radionuclide, g
f _{ST}	area fraction of intact segment, 0.8476
H _{NDC_ST}	height of NDC_ST cell, 7.13 ft/12
H _{DC_ST}	height of DC_STcell, 8.87 ft/16
H _{WZ}	height of waste zone, 16 ft

The species inventories distributed to each NDC_H2 and DC_H2 cell pathways are computed in Eqs 4-9 and 4-10, respectively.

$$I_{NDC_H2} = I_p f_{H2} \frac{H_{NDC_H2}}{H_{WZ}}$$
(4-9)

$$I_{DC_{H2}} = I_{p} f_{H2} \frac{H_{DC_{H2}}}{H_{WZ}}$$
(4-10)

where

I _{NDC_H2} s	pecies inventory of NDC_H2 cell, g
I _{DC_H2} s	pecies inventory of DC_H2 cell, g
I _p iı	nventory of parent radionuclide, g
f _{H2} a	rea fraction of H2 segment, 0.1524
H _{NDC_H2} h	eight of NDC_H2 cell, 7.13 ft/12
H _{DC_H2} h	eight of DC_H2 cell, 8.87 ft/16

When the final cap is emplaced at end of IC, the species inventories (Mass_In_Pathway) within NDC_ST and NDC_H2 cell pathways are transferred to the DC_ST and DC_H2 cell pathways,

series of discrete change elements (AddMassFrom NDC ST, respectively. А AddMassFrom NDC H2, ZeroMassin NDC ST, ZeroMassin NDC H2, AddMassto DC ST AddMassto DC H2) (MassCollector NDC ST and cell pathways and and MassCollector NDC H2) were used to transfer the species inventories. The AddMassFrom NDC ST and AddMassFrom NDC H2 elements sum the Mass In Pathway from NDC ST and NDC H2 cell pathways, respectively and makes them available in the MassCollectors. The ZeroMassin NDC ST and ZeroMassin NDC H2 elements replace the species inventories in the NDC_ST and NDC_H2 cell pathways, respectively with zero values. The AddMassTo DC ST and AddMassTo DC H2 elements add and distribute the species inventories from the NDC ST and NDC H2 cell pathways evenly among the DC ST and DC H2 cell pathways, respectively.

The ST06/ST Case11b water saturations in slit segment 5 (WZ) are shown in Figure 4-39. The NDC_WASTE and DC_WASTE water saturations are data inputs to the Saturation_NDC_ST and Saturation_DC_ST expression elements, respectively. These water saturations are used to compute water contents in the WaterContent_NDC_ST and WaterContent_DC_ST expression elements (within the /Transport/WasteZoneST/WasteZone Subsided container).



Figure 4-39. ST06/ST Case11b water saturations in slit segment 5 (WZ).

The ST06/ST Case11b water saturations between slit segments 4 and 5 (UVZ) are shown in Figure 4-40. The water saturations in the NDC_WASTE and DC_WASTE regions are data inputs to the Saturation_NDC_BS and Saturation_DC_BS expression elements, respectively. These water saturations are used to compute water contents in the WaterContent_NDC_BS and WaterContent_DC_BS expression elements (within /Transport/WasteZoneST/WasteZone Subsided container).



Figure 4-40. ST06/ST Case11b water saturations between slit segment 4 and 5 (UVZ).

The ST06/ST Case11b water saturations in H2 of slit segment 5 (WZ) are shown in Figure 4-41. The NDC_WASTE and DC_WASTE water saturations are data inputs to the Saturation_NDC_H2 and Saturation_DC_H2 expression elements, respectively. These water saturations are used to compute water contents in the WaterContent_NDC_H2 and WaterContent_DC_H2 expression elements (within the /Transport/WasteZoneST/WasteZone Subsided container).



Figure 4-41. ST06/ST Case11b water saturations in H2 of slit segment 5 (WZ).

4.3.3 Lower Vadose Zone Model (Intact Waste Zone)

Advective and diffusive species fluxes leave the DC_ST and DC_BS cell pathways from WasteZone_Intact and enter the upper sandy (US) layer (SANDY2) of the lower vadose zone. The SANDY2 soil layer is represented by a cell network consisting of a column of 40 US_ST and US_BS cell pathways. The advective and diffusive species fluxes leave the SANDY2 cell network and enter the TAN_CLAY (TC) soil layer. The TAN_CLAY soil layer is represented by a cell network consisting of a column of 6 TC_ST and TC_BS cell pathways. The advective and diffusive species fluxes leave the TAN_CLAY soil layer is represented by a cell network and enter the lower sandy (LS) layer (SANDY1). The SANDY1 soil layer is represented by a cell network consisting of a column of 16 LS_ST and LS_BS cell pathways. The GoldSim slit trench lower vadose zone (Intact WZ) cell network is shown in Figure 4-42.

Each column of lower vadose zone cell pathways is connected through advective and diffusive flux links. There are only diffusive flux links between the ST and BS cell pathways as explained in an earlier section. The widths of the ST and BS cell pathways are 20 ft and 10 ft, respectively. The length of the ST and BS cell pathways are 656 ft. The height of the US_ST and US_BS cell pathways are 23 ft/40 (0.575 ft). The height of the TC_ST and TC_BS cell pathways are 2 ft/6 (0.3333 ft). The height of the LS_ST and LS_BS cell pathways are 10 ft/16 (0.625 ft).

Revision 0



Figure 4-42. GoldSim slit trench lower vadose zone cell network (Intact WZ).

The cell pathway properties for US_ST_X1Y1 are shown in Figure 4-43 and Figure 4-44. The data requirements of the lower vadose zone cell pathways are described in this section.

Revision 0

Cell Pathway Properties : US_ST_X1Y1 X	Cell Pathway Properties : US_ST_X1Y1 X
Definition Inflows Outflows Diffusive Fluxes	Definition Inflows Outflows Diffusive Fluxes
Element ID: US_ST_X1Y1 Appearance	List of Inflows
Description: x-length = 20ft, y-length = 0.575ft, thickness = 656ft.	From Pathway To Pathway Medium
×	DC_ST_X1Y16 US_ST_X1Y1 Water
Media in Cell	
Medium Amount F H S	
Water 7544 ft3 * SandySoil:Porosity*WaterSat_US	
Add Medium Delete Medium	Add Inflow Delete Inflow Properties of Selected Inflow
Cell Inventory	Inflow: US_ST_X1Y1.Water_from_DC_ST_X1Y16
Initial Inventory V	Link Type: Coupled
Discrete Changes:	Flow Rate: Flowrate_DC_ST
Save Masses in Pathway	Species flux rates: Save Final Values Save Time History
Output Precipitated Mass	
Final Values Time History	
OK Cancel Help	OK Cancel Help

Figure 4-43. US_ST_X1Y1 cell pathway properties: Definition and Inflows.

inition initi	ows Outriows	Diffusive Fluxes		Dennition Innows	Outriows Dirusi	ve riuxes	
List of Outfl	ows			List of Diffusive F	lixes		
Fron	n Pathway	To Pathway	Medium	From Pathwa	Fluid	To Pathway	Fluid
US_ST_X	1Y1	US_ST_X1Y2	Water	US_ST_X1Y1	Water	US_BS_X2Y1	Water
				US_ST_X1Y1	Water	US_ST_X1Y2	Water
				DC_ST_X1Y16	Water	US_ST_X1Y1	Water
Add Out	flow Del	ete Outflow		Add Flux	Delete Flu	x	
Add Out Properties of Outflow: Link Type	flow Del f Selected Outfl US_ST_> : Coupled	ete Outflow ow (1Y1.Water_to_US_ST_	_X1Y2	Add Flux Properties of Sele Diffusive Flux: Link Type:	Delete Flu cted Diffusive Flux US_ST_X1Y1.Wa Coupled	x ; :ter_to_Water_in_US;	_BS_X2Y1
Add Our Properties o Outflow: Link Type Flow Rate	flow Del f Selected Outfl US_ST_> : Coupled : Flowrate	ete Outflow ow (1Y1.Water_to_US_ST_ _US_ST	_X1Y2	Add Flux Properties of Sele Diffusive Flux: Link Type:	Delete Flux cted Diffusive Flux US_ST_X1Y1.Wa Coupled US_ST_X	x :ter_to_Water_in_US, :1Y1 U	_BS_X2Y1 IS_BS_X2Y1
Add Out Properties o Outflow: Link Type Flow Rate	flow Del f Selected Outfi US_ST_> : Coupled : Flowrate	ete Outflow ow (1Y1.Water_to_US_STUS_ST	X1Y2	Add Flux Properties of Sele Diffusive Flux: Link Type: Length:	Delete Flu cted Dffusive Flux US_ST_X1Y1.Wa Coupled US_ST_X 10 ft	x ter_to_Water_in_US, (1Y1 U 5ft	_BS_X2Y1 IS_BS_X2Y1
Add Out Properties o Outflow: Link Type Flow Rate Species flu	flow Del f Selected Outfi US_ST_> : Coupled : Flowrate ux rates: S	ete Outflow ow (1Y1.Water_to_US_ST _US_ST ave Final Values	X1Y2 Save Time History	Add Flux Properties of Sele Diffusive Flux: Link Type: Length: Porous Medium:	Delete Flu cted Diffusive Flux US_ST_X1Y1.Wa Coupled US_ST_X 10 ft Sandu Soil	x ter_to_Water_in_US, (1Y1 U 5 ft Sandu	_BS_X2Y1 JS_BS_X2Y1
Add Out Properties of Outflow: Link Type Flow Rate Species fli	flow Del f Selected Outfl US_ST_> : Coupled : Flowrate, ux rates: S	ete Outflow ow (1Y1.Water_to_US_ST US_ST ave Final Values 412.3 m3/vr	_X1Y2 Save Time History	Add Flux Properties of Sele Diffusive Flux: Link Type: Length: Porous Medium:	Delete Flu cted Diffusive Flux US_ST_X1Y1.Wa Coupled US_ST_X 10 ft SandySoil	x ter_to_Water_in_US (1Y1 U 5 ft V Sandy	_BS_X2Y1 JS_BS_X2Y1 ySoil
Add Our Properties o Outflow: Link Type Flow Rate Species flu otal outflow	flow Del f Selected Outfl US_ST_> : Coupled : Flowrate ux rates: S rate of Water =	ete Outflow ow (1Y1.Water_to_US_ST _US_ST ave Final Values 412.3 m3/yr	_X1Y2 Save Time History	Add Flux Properties of Sele Diffusive Flux: Link Type: Length: Porous Medium: Diffusive Area:	Delete Flu ted Diffusive Flux US_ST_X1Y1.Wa Coupled US_ST_X 10 ft SandySoil 377.2 ft2	x ster_to_Water_in_US, (1Y1 U 5ft V Sandy	_BS_X2Y1 IS_BS_X2Y1 /Soil

Figure 4-44. US_ST_X1Y1 cell pathway properties: Outflows and Diffusive Fluxes.

The ST06/ST Case01 average water saturations in slit segments 1 through 5 (LVZ) are shown in Figure 4-45. The SANDY2, TAN_CLAY and SANDY1 water saturations are data inputs to the

 $Saturation_US_ST, Saturation_TC_ST and Saturation_LS_ST expression elements, respectively (within the /Transport/VadoseZoneST/VadoseZone_Intact container).$



Figure 4-45. ST06/ST Case01 average water saturations in slit segments 1 through 5 (LVZ).

The ST06/ST Case01 average water saturations between slit segments (LVZ) are shown in Figure 4-46. The SANDY2, TAN_CLAY and SANDY1 water saturations are data inputs to the Saturation_US_BS, Saturation_TC_BS and Saturation_LS_BS expression elements, respectively. (VadoseZoneST/VadoseZone_Intact).



Figure 4-46. ST06/ST Case01 average water saturations between slit segments (LVZ).

4.3.4 Lower Vadose Zone Model (Subsided Waste Zone)

The VadoseZone_Subsided container is split into three localized containers for the UpperSandyLayer, TanClayLayer and LowerSandyLayer models as shown in Figure 4-47. With the additional subsided columns, US/TC/LS_H2, there was a need to split the models for ease of development. The remainder of this section describes the models within these containers.



Advective and diffusive species fluxes leave the DC_ST, DC_BS and DC_H2 cell pathways from WasteZone_Subsided and enter the upper sandy layer (SANDY2) of the lower vadose zone. The SANDY2 soil layer is represented by a cell network consisting of a column of 40 US_ST, US_BS and US_H2 cell pathways. Each column of upper sandy layer cell pathways is connected through advective and diffusive flux links. There are only diffusive flux links between the US_ST to US_BS and US_H2 to US_BS pairs as explained in an earlier section. The widths of the US_ST/H2 and US_BS cell pathways are 20 ft and 10 ft, respectively. The length of the US_ST, US_BS and US_H2 are 556 ft, 656 ft and 100 ft, respectively. The height of the US_ST, US_BS cell pathways are 23 ft/40 (0.575 ft). The GoldSim slit trench upper sandy layer cell network (Subsided WZ) is shown in Figure 4-48.

Revision 0



Figure 4-48. GoldSim slit trench upper sandy layer cell network (Subsided WZ).

The advective and diffusive species fluxes leave the SANDY2 cell network and enter the TAN_CLAY soil layer. The TAN_CLAY soil layer is represented by a cell network consisting of a column of 6 TC_ST, TC_BS and TC_H2 cell pathways. Each column of the TAN_CLAY layer cell pathways is connected through advective and diffusive flux links. There are only diffusive flux links between the TC_ST to TC_BS and TC_H2 to TC_BS pairs as explained in an earlier section. The widths of the TC_ST/H2 and TC_BS cell pathways are 20 ft and 10 ft, respectively. The length of the US_ST, US_BS and US_H2 are 556 ft, 656 ft and 100 ft, respectively. The height of the TC_ST, TC_H2 and TC_BS cell pathways are 2 ft/6 (0.3333 ft). The GoldSim slit trench tan clay layer cell network (Subsided WZ) is shown in Figure 4-49.


Figure 4-49. GoldSim slit trench tan clay layer cell network (Subsided WZ).

The advective and diffusive species fluxes leave the TAN_CLAY cell network and enter lower sandy layer (SANDY1). The SANDY1 soil layer is represented by a cell network consisting of a column of 16 LS_ST, LS_BS and LS_H2 cell pathways. Each column of the SANDY1 soil layer cell pathways is connected through advective and diffusive flux links. There are only diffusive flux links between the LS_ST to LS_BS and LS_H2 to LS_BS pairs as explained in an earlier section. The widths of the LS_ST/H2 and LS_BS cell pathways are 20 ft and 10 ft, respectively. The length of the LS_ST, LS_BS and LS_H2 are 556 ft, 656 ft and 100 ft, respectively. The height of the LS_ST, LS_BS cell pathways are 10 ft/16 (0.625 ft). The GoldSim slit trench lower sandy layer cell network (Subsided WZ) is shown in Figure 4-50.

SRNL-STI-2020-00372



The cell pathway properties for US_H2_X3Y1 are shown in Figure 4-51 and Figure 4-52. The data requirements of the lower vadose zone cell pathways are described in this section.

SRNL-STI-2020-00372

Revision 0

Cell Pathway Properties : US_H2_X3Y1 X	Cell Pathway Properties : US_H2_X3Y1	×
Definition Inflows Outflows Diffusive Fluxes	Definition Inflows Outflows Diffusive Fluxes	
Element ID: US_H2_X3Y1 Appearance	List of Inflows	1
Description: US H2 Cell 1	From Pathway To Pathway Medium DC H2 X3Y16 US H2 X3Y1 Water	
- Media in Cell		
Medium Amount F H S		
Water US_H2_Vol * SandySoil: Porosity*WaterSat_ L SandySoil US_H2_Vol * SandySoil:Density		
Add Medium Delete Medium	Add Inflow Delete Inflow	
Cell Inventory	Inflow: US H2 X3Y1.Water from DC H2 X3Y16	
Initial Inventory	Link Type: Coupled	
Discrete Changes:	Flow Rate: Flowrate_DC_H2	
Save Masses in Pathway	Species flux rates: Save Final Values Save Time History	
Final Values Time History		
OK Cancel Help	OK Cancel Help	

Figure 4-51. US_H2_X3Y1 cell pathway properties: Definition and Inflows.

ell Pathway Properties : US_	H2_X3Y1		× c	Cell Pathway Properties	s : US_H2_X3Y	1		
Definition Inflows Outflows	Diffusive Fluxes			Definition Inflows Out	tflows Diffusiv	ve Fluxes		
List of Outflows				List of Diffusive Fluxe	s			
From Pathway	To Pathway	Medium		From Pathway	Fluid	To Pathway	Fluid	
US_H2_X3Y1	US_H2_X3Y2	Water		US_H2_X3Y1	Water	US_H2_X3Y2	Water	
				US_BS_X2Y1	Water	US_H2_X3Y1	Water	
				DC_H2_X3Y16	Water	US_H2_X3Y1	Water	
Properties of Selected Outfl Outflow: US_H2_>	ow X3Y1.Water_to_US_H2_X3	3Y2		Properties of Selecter Diffusive Flux: US	d Diffusive Flux H2_X3Y1.Wa	ter to Water in US	H2 X3Y2	
Link Type: Coupled				Link Type: Cou	upled			
Link Type: Coupled Flow Rate: Flowrate	_US_H2		-	Link Type: Cou	upled US_H2_X	3Y1 U	S_H2_X3Y2	
Link Type: Coupled Flow Rate: Flowrate	_US_H2			Link Type: Cou	US_H2_X S_H2_DL_Y	3Y1 U US_H	S_H2_X3Y2 2_DL_Y	_
Link Type: Coupled Flow Rate: Flowrate Species flux rates: S	_US_H2 ave Final Values Sam	ve Time History		Link Type: Cou	US_H2_X US_H2_X S_H2_DL_Y	3Y1 U US_H	IS_H2_X3Y2 2_DL_Y	
Link Type: Coupled Flow Rate: Flowrate Species flux rates: S Total outflow rate of Water -	_US_H2 ave Final Values Sau	ve Time History		Link Type: Cou Length: U. Porous Medium: S	upled US_H2_X S_H2_DL_Y andySoil	3Y1 U US_H Sandy	IS_H2_X3Y2 2_DL_Y /Soil	~
Link Type: Coupled Flow Rate: Flowrate Species flux rates: Species flux rate of Water =	_US_H2 ave Final Values Sau 122.9 m3/yr	ve Time History		Link Type: Cou Length: U Porous Medium: S Diffusive Area: H	upled US_H2_X S_H2_DL_Y andySoil 2_Seg_XZ_Are	3Y1 U US_H: V Sandy	IS_H2_X3Y2 2_DL_Y /Soil	~
Link Type: Coupled Row Rate: Rowrate. Species flux rates: S Total outflow rate of Water =	_US_H2 'ave Final Values San 122.9 m3/yr	ve Time History		Link Type: Cou Length: U Porous Medium: S Diffusive Area: H Species flux rates:	upled US_H2_X S_H2_DL_Y andySoil 2_Seg_XZ_Are	3Y1 U US_H: Sandy a Values Save 1	IS_H2_X3Y2 2_DL_Y Soil	~

Figure 4-52. US_H2_X3Y1 cell pathway properties: Outflows and Diffusive Fluxes.

The ST06/ST Case11b water saturations in slit segment 5 (LVZ) are shown in Figure 4-53. The SANDY2, TAN_CLAY and SANDY1 water saturations are data inputs to the Saturation_US_ST (UpperSandyLayer), Saturation_TC_ST (TanClayLayer) and Saturation_LS_ST

(LowerSandyLayer) expression elements, respectively in the /Transport/VadoseZoneST/VadoseZone_Subsided container.



Figure 4-53. ST06/ST Case11b water saturations in slit segment 5 (LVZ).

The ST06/ST Case11b water saturations between slit segments 4 and 5 (LVZ) are shown in Figure 4-54. The SANDY2, TAN_CLAY and SANDY1 water saturations are data inputs to the Saturation_US_BS (UpperSandyLayer), Saturation_TC_BS (TanClayLayer) and Saturation_LS_BS (LowerSandyLayer) expression elements, respectively in the /Transport/VadoseZoneST/VadoseZone_Subsided container.



Figure 4-54. ST06/ST Case11b water saturations between slit segments 4 and 5 (LVZ).

The ST06/ST Case11b water saturations in H2 of slit segment 5 (LVZ) are shown in Figure 4-55. The SANDY2, TAN_CLAY and SANDY1 water saturations are data inputs to the Saturation_US_H2 (UpperSandyLayer), Saturation_TC_H2 (TanClayLayer) and Saturation_LS_H2 (LowerSandyLayer) expression elements, respectively in the /Transport/VadoseZoneST /VadoseZone Subsided container.



Figure 4-55. ST06/ST Case11b water saturations in H2 of slit segment 5 (LVZ).

SRNL-STI-2020-00372

5.0 GoldSim Model Benchmarking to PORFLOW

Total species fluxes (advective and diffusive) from the waste zone and to the water table were computed for comparison between the 3-D PORFLOW and simplified 1-D GoldSim vadose zone transport models. The GoldSim ET waste and vadose models span the entire footprint of the active disposal unit. The GoldSim ST waste and vadose models include intact and subsided single slit trench and non-waste segment models with 1/5 of the parent species inventories.

5.1 Flux from the Waste Zone

The total species fluxes from the GoldSim ET waste zone for Case01 is the sum of the advective and diffusive fluxes from WasteZone_Crushed container. The total species fluxes from the GoldSim ET waste zone for Case11b is the sum of the advective and diffusive fluxes from WasteZone_Crushed and WasteZone_Noncrushed containers.

The total species fluxes from the GoldSim ST waste zone for Case01 is 5 times the total fluxes from WasteZone_Intact container. The total species fluxes from the GoldSim ST waste zone for Case11b is the sum of the total fluxes from WasteZone_Intact and 4 times the total fluxes from the WasteZone Subsided containers.

5.1.1 ET Case01 WZ Fluxes

The ST06/ET Case01 fluxes from the waste zone are shown in Figure 5-1 for C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237. The GoldSim model accurately simulates the flux from the WZ over the entire time period. The back diffusion from the DC_WASTE to the NDC_WASTE, following dynamic compaction of the WZ, is shown by the gap in values for C-14 and the Np-237 short-chain, between 171 and 350 years.



Figure 5-1. ST06/ET Case01 flux from the waste zone (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237).

The ST06/ET Case01 fluxes from the waste zone are shown in Figure 5-2 for Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer. The GoldSim model accurately simulates the flux from the WZ over the entire time period. The back diffusion from the DC_WASTE to the NDC_WASTE, following dynamic compaction of the WZ, is shown by the gap in values for Sr-90 between 171 and 350 years.



Figure 5-2. ST06/ET Case01 flux from the waste zone (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer).

5.1.2 ET Case11b WZ Fluxes

The ST06/ET Case11b fluxes from the waste zone are shown in Figure 5-3 for C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237. The GoldSim and PORFLOW models show back diffusion and flux increase from the WZ following dynamic compaction and subsidence, respectively, for C-14. The back diffusion from the DC_WASTE to the NDC_WASTE, following dynamic compaction and subsidence of the WZ, is shown by the gap in values for the Np-237 short-chain between 171 and 350 years.



Figure 5-3. ST06/ET Case11b flux from the waste zone (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237).

The ST06/ET Case11b fluxes from the waste zone are shown in Figure 5-4 for Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer. The back diffusion from the DC_WASTE to the NDC_WASTE, following dynamic compaction and subsidence of the WZ, is shown by the gap in values for Sr-90 between 171 and 350 years.



Figure 5-4. ST06/ET Case11b flux from the waste zone (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer).

5.1.3 ST Case01 WZ Fluxes

The ST06/ST Case01 fluxes from the waste zone are shown in Figure 5-5 for C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237. The back diffusion from the DC_WASTE to the NDC_WASTE, following dynamic compaction of the WZ, is shown by the gap in values for C-14, Np-237 and Th-229 between 171 and 350 years. The GoldSim flux profiles from the WZ for H-3 and I-129 undulate in comparison to PORFLOW. This behavior is not understood at this time.



Figure 5-5. ST06/ST Case01 flux from the waste zone (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237).

The ST06/ST Case01 fluxes from the waste zone are shown in Figure 5-6 for Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer. The back diffusion from the DC_WASTE to the NDC_WASTE, following dynamic compaction of the WZ, is shown by the gap in values for Sr-90 between 171 and 275 years. The GoldSim flux profiles from the WZ for Tc-99 and Tracer undulate in comparison to PORFLOW. This behavior is not understood at this time. The fluxes from the WZ for the U-238 short-chain show excellent agreement.



Figure 5-6. ST06/ST Case01 flux from the waste zone (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer).

5.1.4 ST Case11b WZ Fluxes

The ST06/ST Case11b fluxes from the waste zone are shown in Figure 5-7 for C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237. The increase in flux from the WZ following subsidence is in good agreement between PORFLOW and GoldSim for C-14 and the Np-237 short-chain. The GoldSim flux profiles from the WZ for H-3 and I-129 undulate in comparison to PORFLOW. This behavior is not understood at this time.



Figure 5-7. ST06/ST Case11b flux from the waste zone (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237).

The ST06/ST Case11b fluxes from the waste zone are shown in Figure 5-8 for Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer. The increase in flux from the WZ following subsidence is in good agreement between PORFLOW and GoldSim for Sr-90 and the U-238 short-chain. The GoldSim flux profiles from the WZ for Tc-99 and Tracer undulate in comparison to PORFLOW. This behavior is not understood at this time.



Figure 5-8. ST06/ST Case11b flux from the waste zone (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer).

5.2 Flux to the Water Table

The total species fluxes from the GoldSim ET vadose zone for Case01 is the total fluxes from VadoseZone_Crushed container. The total species fluxes from the GoldSim ET vadose zone for Case11b is the sum of the total fluxes from VadoseZone_Crushed and VadoseZone_Noncrushed containers.

The total species fluxes from the GoldSim ST vadose zone for Case01 is 5 times the total fluxes from VadoseZone_Intact container. The total species fluxes from the GoldSim ST vadose zone for Case11b is the sum of the total fluxes from VadoseZone_Intact and 4 times the total fluxes from the VadoseZone_Subsided containers.

5.2.1 ET Case01 VZ Fluxes

The ST06/ET Case01 fluxes to the water table are shown in Figure 5-9 for C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237. The fluxes to the water table for C-14 show excellent agreement. Fluxes to the water table in GoldSim are orders of magnitude below PORFLOW after placement of the interim and final covers for I-129 and the Np-237 short-chain. As the final cover degrades, the fluxes from both models converge. The differences in peak flux to the water table for H-3 between models are probably due to mesh and time step refinement and numerical diffusion.



Figure 5-9. ST06/ET Case01 flux to the water table (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237).

The ST06/ET Case01 fluxes to the water table are shown in Figure 5-10 for Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer. The Sr-90 GoldSim model does not capture the spike in the flux between 46 and 171 years. The Sr-90 peak fluxes after 1000 years are different in magnitude and lag each other. Examination of PORFLOW slices through the center of the domain and at the water table reveal spikes in concentrations at the east and west edges of the ET footprint. These edges are near the 40-foot overhang of the final cover where intact infiltration can enter the edges of the waste footprint and advective fluxes to the water table are faster than in the interior core of the footprint. The fluxes to the water table for Tc-99 are in good agreement between both models. Fluxes to the water table in GoldSim are orders of magnitude below PORFLOW after placement of the interim and final covers for the U-238 short-chain. As the final cover degrades, the fluxes from both models converge. The differences in peak flux to the water table for H-3 between models are probably due to mesh and time step refinement and numerical diffusion.



Figure 5-10. ST06/ET Case01 flux to the water table (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer).

5.2.2 ET Case11b VZ Fluxes

The ST06/ET Case11b fluxes to the water table are shown in Figure 5-11 for C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237. The C-14 flux to the WT tracks the response in PORFLOW except for the period immediately following dynamic compaction and installation of the final cover. Fluxes to the water table in GoldSim are orders of magnitude below PORFLOW prior to dynamic compaction and subsidence for I-129 and the Np-237 short-chain. The increase in fluxes to the WT at subsidence in GoldSim are orders of magnitude below PORFLOW for the Np-237 short-chain and I-129. The Np-237 short-chain flux to the WT in GoldSim tracks the response of PORFLOW following subsidence. As the final cover degrades, the fluxes from both models converge. The differences in peak flux to the water table for H-3 between models are probably due to mesh and time step refinement and numerical diffusion.



Figure 5-11. ST06/ET Case11b flux to the water table (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237).

The ST06/ET Case11b fluxes to the water table are shown in Figure 5-12 for Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer. Fluxes to the water table in GoldSim are orders of magnitude below PORFLOW prior to dynamic compaction and subsidence for Sr-90. The fluxes to the WT following subsidence in GoldSim track below PORFLOW fluxes for Sr-90. The fluxes to the water table for Tc-99 in GoldSim increase but are orders of magnitude below PORFLOW after subsidence. Fluxes to the water table in GoldSim are orders of magnitude below PORFLOW after placement of the interim and final covers for the U-238 short-chain. Note that prior to cover placement, the U-238 short-chain concentrations are below the trackable limit for GoldSim. As the final cover degrades, the fluxes from both models converge. The differences in peak flux to the water table for Tracer between models are probably due to mesh and time step refinement and numerical diffusion.



Figure 5-12. ST06/ET Case11b flux to the water table (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer).

5.2.3 ST Case01 VZ Fluxes

The ST06/ST Case01 fluxes to the water table are shown in Figure 5-13 for C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237. Fluxes to the water table in GoldSim are orders of magnitude below PORFLOW after placement of the interim and final covers for C-14, I-129 (order of magnitude with cross-over) and the Np-237 short-chain. As the final cover degrades, the fluxes from both models converge. The differences in peak flux to the water table for H-3 between models are probably due to mesh and time step refinement and numerical diffusion.



Figure 5-13. ST06/ST Case01 flux to the water table (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237).

The ST06/ST Case01 fluxes to the water table are shown in Figure 5-14 for Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer. The Sr-90 GoldSim model does not capture the spike in the flux between 46 and 171 years. The Sr-90 peak fluxes after 1000 years are different in magnitude and lag each other. Examination of PORFLOW slices through the center of the domain and at the water table reveal spikes in concentrations at the east and west edges of the ST footprint. These edges are near the 40-foot overhang of the final cover where intact infiltration can enter the edges of the waste footprint and advective fluxes to the water table are faster than in the interior core of the footprint. The fluxes to the water table in GoldSim are higher than PORFLOW for the first 650 years for Tc-99. Fluxes to the water table in GoldSim are orders of magnitude below PORFLOW after placement of the interim and final covers for the U-238 short-chain. As the final cover degrades, the fluxes from both models converge. The differences in peak flux to the water table for Tracer between models are probably due to mesh and time step refinement and numerical diffusion.



Figure 5-14. ST06/ST Case01 flux to the water table (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer).

5.2.4 ST Case11b VZ Fluxes

The ST06/ST Case11b fluxes to the water table are shown in Figure 5-15 for C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237. Fluxes to the water table in GoldSim are orders of magnitude below PORFLOW prior to dynamic compaction and subsidence for C-14, I-129 and the Np-237 short-chain. The fluxes to the WT following subsidence in GoldSim track the PORFLOW fluxes for C-14, I-129 and the Np-237 short-chain. The differences in peak flux to the water table for H-3 between models are probably due to mesh and time step refinement and numerical diffusion.



Figure 5-15. ST06/ST Case11b flux to the water table (C-14, H-3, I-129 and Np-237).

The ST06/ST Case11b fluxes to the water table are shown in Figure 5-16 for Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer. Fluxes to the water table in GoldSim are orders of magnitude below PORFLOW prior to dynamic compaction and subsidence for Sr-90. The fluxes to the WT following subsidence in GoldSim track the PORFLOW fluxes for Sr-90. The fluxes to the water table for Tc-99 in GoldSim track above the PORFLOW fluxes before and after subsidence to the peak value at 600 years. Fluxes to the water table in GoldSim are orders of magnitude below PORFLOW after placement of the interim and final covers for the U-238 short-chain. As the final cover degrades, the fluxes for models are probably due to mesh and time step refinement and numerical diffusion.



Figure 5-16. ST06/ST Case11b flux to the water table (Sr-90, Tc-99, U-238 and Tracer).

6.0 Summary and Conclusions

This report documents the development and benchmarking of the ELLWF GoldSim ET and ST vadose zone models. GoldSim cell and cell network models were developed to model the transport of radionuclides from the waste zone within the ET and ST footprint through the vadose zone to the water table using the ST06 hydrostratigraphy. The model calculates advective and diffusive fluxes for parent and daughter radionuclides and a tracer. During the development of the GoldSim vadose zone model, results from the PORFLOW 3D ET and ST vadose zone models were postprocessed to generate soil layer Darcy velocities and water saturations as input to the GoldSim models.

Results from PORFLOW transport simulations were used to benchmark the GoldSim model. Complete results from this code-to-code benchmarking are provided in Section 5.0 of this report. GoldSim model results were found to be comparable to those obtained by PORFLOW 3D models given the limitations of 1D GoldSim transport models. These results are for benchmarking only, no calibration was performed, reassessments will be made when the GoldSim ET and ST vadose zone models are be connected to the GoldSim aquifer zone model.

A comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak times for ET Case01 are shown prior to and after dynamic compaction in Table 6-1 and Table 6-2, respectively.

	PORF	LOW	Gold	ISim	Ratio		
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/POR	FLOW	
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr	
C-14	5.304E-05	46	6.582E-07	46	1.24E-02	1.00	
Н-3	4.169E+03	21	5.113E+03	21	1.23E+00	1.00	
I-129	2.366E-05	46	5.331E-06	46	2.25E-01	1.00	
Np-237	7.465E-10	171	1.242E-16	46	1.66E-07	0.27	
U-233	9.421E-16	171	8.224E-23	171	8.73E-08	1.00	
Th-229	7.595E-19	171	8.092E-26	171	1.07E-07	1.00	
Sr-90	9.963E-12	171	5.964E-20	46	5.99E-09	0.27	
Тс-99	6.244E-02	46	7.130E-02	46	1.14E+00	1.00	
U-238	5.774E-63	171	< sp				
U-234	3.045E-66	171	< sp				
Th-230	2.208E-70	171	< sp				
Ra-226	7.913E-48	171	< sp				
Pb-210	3.574E-50	171	< sp				
	mol/yr		mol/yr				
Tracer	2.329E-01	21	2.852E-01	21	1.22E+00	1.00	

Table 6-1. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak times for ET Case01 ($T \le 171$ years).

Note: \leq sp – lower than single precision

	PORF	LOW	Gold	lSim	Ratio	
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/POR	FLOW
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr
C-14	1.143E-01	1092	1.183E-01	1092	1.04E+00	1.00
Н-3	7.123E-17	171	0.000E+00		0.00E+00	0.00
I-129	1.202E-04	691	1.265E-04	692	1.05E+00	1.00
Np-237	6.971E-04	1072	7.977E-04	1052	1.14E+00	0.98
U-233	2.045E-08	5000	2.084E-08	5000	1.02E+00	1.00
Th-229	1.806E-09	5000	1.838E-09	5000	1.02E+00	1.00
Sr-90	3.478E-11	1031	2.475E-11	1072	7.12E-01	1.04
Тс-99	6.449E-03	571	6.594E-03	552	1.02E+00	0.97
U-238	2.322E-17	5000	5.851E-22	5000	2.52E-05	1.00
U-234	3.261E-19	5000	8.187E-24	5000	2.51E-05	1.00
Th-230	2.529E-22	5000	4.271E-27	5000	1.69E-05	1.00
Ra-226	1.714E-12	5000	1.803E-12	5000	1.05E+00	1.00
Pb-210	2.105E-14	5000	2.215E-14	5000	1.05E+00	1.00
	mol/yr		mol/yr			
Tracer	8.153E-16	471	0.000E+00			

Table 6-2. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and
peak times for ET Case01 (T > 171 years).

A comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak times for ET Case11b are shown prior to and after dynamic compaction and subsidence in Table 6-3 and Table 6-4, respectively.

	PORF	LOW	Gold	lSim	Ratio	
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/POR	FLOW
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr
C-14	5.304E-05	46	6.453E-07	46	1.22E-02	1.00
Н-3	4.169E+03	21	5.015E+03	21	1.20E+00	1.00
I-129	2.366E-05	46	5.227E-06	46	2.21E-01	1.00
Np-237	7.465E-10	171	1.218E-16	46	1.63E-07	0.27
U-233	9.421E-16	171	8.062E-23	171	8.56E-08	1.00
Th-229	7.595E-19	171	7.934E-26	171	1.04E-07	1.00
Sr-90	9.963E-12	171	5.847E-20	46	5.87E-09	0.27
Тс-99	6.244E-02	46	6.991E-02	46	1.12E+00	1.00
U-238	5.774E-63	171	< sp			
U-234	3.045E-66	171	< sp			
Th-230	2.208E-70	171	< sp			
Ra-226	7.913E-48	171	< sp			
Pb-210	3.574E-50	171	< sp			
	mol/yr		mol/yr			
Tracer	2.329E-01	21	2.798E-01	21	1.20E+00	1.00

Table 6-3. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak times for ET Case11b (T ≤ 171 years).

Table 6-4. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak times for ET Case11b (T > 171 years).

	PORFLOW		Gold	dSim	Ratio	
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/POR	FLOW
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr
C-14	1.095E-01	1092	1.164E-01	1092	1.06E+00	1.00
Н-3	1.065E-14	171	3.578E-03	171	3.36E+11	1.00
I-129	1.127E-04	691	1.240E-04	692	1.10E+00	1.00
Np-237	6.627E-04	1072	7.830E-04	1052	1.18E+00	0.98
U-233	2.044E-08	5000	2.054E-08	5000	1.00E+00	1.00
Th-229	1.806E-09	5000	1.815E-09	5000	1.01E+00	1.00
Sr-90	7.610E-03	249	2.915E-04	271	3.83E-02	1.09
Тс-99	5.966E-03	571	6.462E-03	552	1.08E+00	0.97
U-238	3.590E-11	5000	1.461E-13	5000	4.07E-03	1.00
U-234	5.029E-13	5000	2.043E-15	5000	4.06E-03	1.00

	PORFLOW		Gold	lSim	Ratio	
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/POR	FLOW
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr
Th-230	1.009E-15	5000	2.578E-18	5000	2.55E-03	1.00
Ra-226	1.838E-12	5000	1.780E-12	5000	9.69E-01	1.00
Pb-210	2.259E-14	5000	2.187E-14	5000	9.68E-01	1.00
	mol/yr		mol/yr			
Tracer	2.696E-15	171	9.721E-04	172	3.61E+11	1.00

A comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak times for ST Case01 are shown prior to and after dynamic compaction in Table 6-5 and Table 6-6, respectively.

Table 6-5. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak times for ST Case01 (T \leq 171 years).

	PORF	LOW	Gold	lSim	Ratio	
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/POR	FLOW
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr
C-14	1.069E-04	46	5.051E-07	46	4.72E-03	1.00
Н-3	3.582E+03	20	5.104E+03	20	1.43E+00	0.99
I-129	3.415E-05	46	9.480E-06	46	2.78E-01	1.00
Np-237	3.715E-09	171	2.970E-18	171	7.99E-10	1.00
U-233	5.503E-15	171	3.065E-24	171	5.57E-10	1.00
Th-229	5.030E-18	171	2.064E-27	171	4.10E-10	1.00
Sr-90	1.637E-10	171	7.575E-25	171	4.63E-15	1.00
Тс-99	4.477E-02	46	6.175E-02	46	1.38E+00	1.00
U-238	6.101E-61	171	< sp			
U-234	3.217E-64	171	< sp			
Th-230	2.425E-68	171	< sp			
Ra-226	5.162E-46	171	< sp			
Pb-210	2.433E-48	171	< sp			
	mol/yr		mol/yr			
Tracer	1.999E-01	21	2.823E-01	20	1.41E+00	0.99

	PORF	LOW	Gold	Sim	Ratio	
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/POR	FLOW
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr
C-14	7.006E-02	1222	6.617E-02	1223	9.44E-01	1.00
Н-3	1.895E-12	171	8.442E-12	171	4.45E+00	1.00
I-129	9.655E-05	731	1.087E-04	712	1.13E+00	0.97
Np-237	4.556E-04	1132	4.745E-04	1092	1.04E+00	0.96
U-233	1.871E-08	5000	1.9501E-08	5000	1.04E+00	1.00
Th-229	1.639E-09	5000	1.649E-09	5000	1.01E+00	1.00
Sr-90	3.060E-11	991	2.114E-11	1072	6.91E-01	1.08
Тс-99	6.3502E-03	611	6.484E-03	592	1.02E+00	0.97
U-238	2.279E-17	5000	9.280E-26	5000	4.07E-09	1.00
U-234	3.200E-19	5000	1.299E-27	5000	4.06E-09	1.00
Th-230	2.487E-22	5000	5.009E-31	5000	2.01E-09	1.00
Ra-226	1.147E-12	5000	1.196E-12	5000	1.04E+00	1.00
Pb-210	1.403E-14	5000	1.462E-14	5000	1.04E+00	1.00
	mol/yr		mol/yr			
Tracer	2.243E-11	471	2.230E-12	171	9.94E-02	0.36

Table 6-6. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and
peak times for ST Case01 (T > 171 years).

A comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and peak times for ST Case11b are shown prior to and after dynamic compaction and subsidence in Table 6-7 and Table 6-8, respectively.

Table 6-7. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and
peak times for ST Case11b (T \leq 171 years).

	PORFLOW		W GoldSim		Ratio		
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/POR	FLOW	
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr	
C-14	1.069E-04	46	5.488E-07	46	5.13E-03	1.00	
Н-3	3.582E+03	20	5.115E+03	20	1.43E+00	0.99	
I-129	3.415E-05	46	1.010E-05	46	2.96E-01	1.00	
Np-237	3.715E-09	171	3.179E-18	171	8.56E-10	1.00	
U-233	5.503E-15	171	3.286E-24	171	5.97E-10	1.00	
Th-229	5.030E-18	171	2.214E-27	171	4.40E-10	1.00	
Sr-90	1.637E-10	171	7.991E-25	171	4.88E-15	1.00	

	PORFLOW		Gold	lSim	Ratio	
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/POR	FLOW
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr
Тс-99	4.477E-02	46	6.257E-02	46	1.40E+00	1.00
U-238	6.101E-61	171	< sp			
U-234	3.217E-64	171	< sp			
Th-230	2.425E-68	171	< sp			
Ra-226	5.162E-46	171	< sp			
Pb-210	2.433E-48	171	< sp			
	mol/yr		mol/yr			
Tracer	1.999E-01	21	2.823E-01	20	1.41E+00	0.99

Table 6-8. Comparison of PORFLOW and GoldSim peak fluxes to the water table and
peak times for ST Case11b (T > 171 years).

	PORFLOW		GoldSim		Ratio	
	Max Flux	Max Time	Max Flux	Max Time	GoldSim/PORFLOW	
Nuclides	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/yr	Year	Ci/Ci	yr/yr
C-14	6.753E-02	1222	6.453E-02	1223	9.56E-01	1.00
Н-3	3.356E-10	171	2.404E-11	171	7.16E-02	1.00
I-129	9.061E-05	731	1.029E-04	712	1.14E+00	0.97
Np-237	4.350E-04	1132	4.586E-04	1072	1.05E+00	0.95
U-233	1.862E-08	5000	1.9409E-08	5000	1.04E+00	1.00
Th-229	1.633E-09	5000	1.639E-09	5000	1.00E+00	1.00
Sr-90	5.458E-03	255	6.568E-03	264	1.20E+00	1.04
Тс-99	5.8901E-03	611	5.858E-03	572	9.95E-01	0.94
U-238	3.222E-11	5000	1.579E-12	5000	4.90E-02	1.00
U-234	4.514E-13	5000	2.209E-14	5000	4.89E-02	1.00
Th-230	8.856E-16	5000	2.174E-17	5000	2.45E-02	1.00
Ra-226	1.301E-12	5000	1.361E-12	5000	1.05E+00	1.00
Pb-210	1.594E-14	5000	1.666E-14	5000	1.05E+00	1.00
	mol/yr		mol/yr			
Tracer	8.559E-11	171	6.381E-12	171	7.45E-02	1.00

7.0 Recommendations, Path Forward or Future Work

The GoldSim ET and ST vadose zone models can be expanded to model advective and diffusive flux links to and from adjacent soil regions outside the waste footprint to capture edge effects from cover overhangs.

The GoldSim ST vadose model can be extended to include vertical and transverse advective and diffusive flux links for the five slit segments, four non-waste segments and two edge non-waste segments.

The GoldSim ET and ST vadose zone models are intended to be used for Monte Carlo analysis to determine uncertainty in radionuclide concentrations at the 100-m POA. Reassessments will be made when the GoldSim ET and ST vadose zone models are be connected to the GoldSim aquifer zone model via advective and diffusive flux links.

8.0 References

- ACRi, 2018. PORFLOW User's Manual, Keyword Commands Version 6.42.9, Revision 0. Analytical & Computational Research, Inc., Los Angeles, CA, April 23, 2018
- Aleman 2019. S. E. Aleman, *Savannah River National Laboratory Dose Toolkit*, SRNL-TR-2019-00337, Revision 0, Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, SC, December 2019.
- Bagwell and Bennett 2017. L. A. Bagwell and P. L. Bennett, *Elevation of Water Table and Various Stratigraphic Surfaces beneath E Area Low Level Waste Disposal Facility*. SRNL-STI-2017-00301, Revision 1, Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, South Carolina, November 2017.
- Butcher and Phifer 2016. B. T. Butcher and M. A. Phifer, *Strategic Plan for Next E-Area Low-Level Waste Facility Performance Assessment*, SRNL-STI-2015-00620, Revision 0, Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, South Carolina, February 2016.
- Danielson 2019. T. L. Danielson, PORFLOW Implementation of Vadose Zone Conceptual Model for Slit and Engineered Trenches in the E-Area Low Level Waste Facility Performance Assessment, SRNL-STI-2019-00193, Revision 0, Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, South Carolina, December 2019.
- Danielson 2020. T. L. Danielson, *Component-In-Grout Model Implementation for the E-Area Low-Level Waste Facility's Performance Assessment*, SRNL-STI-2020-00365, Revision 0, Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, South Carolina, September 2020.
- Dyer 2019. J. A. Dyer, *Infiltration Data Package for the E-Area Low-Level Waste Facility Performance Assessment*, SRNL-STI-2019-00363, Revision 0, Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, South Carolina, November 2019.
- Flach 2019. G. P. Flach, Updated Groundwater Flow Simulations of the Savannah River Site General Separations Area, SRNL-STI-2018-00643, Revision 0, Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, South Carolina, January 2019.
- GTG 2018. GoldSim® User's Guide Version 12.1. GoldSim® Technology Group. Issaquah, WA. June 2018.
- Hang 2019. T. Hang, GSA Aquifer Cutouts for E-Area PA Revision Transport Simulations, SRNL-STI-2019-00736, Revision 0, Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, South Carolina, December 2019.
- Kaplan 2016. D. I. Kaplan, Geochemical Data Package for Performance Assessment Calculations Related to the Savannah River Site, SRNL-STI-2009-00473, Revision 1, Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, South Carolina, August 2016.
- Nichols 2020. R. L. Nichols, *Hydraulic Properties Data Package for the E-Area Soils, Cementitious Materials, and Waste Zones Update*, SRNL-STI-2019-00355, Revision 0, Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, South Carolina, January 2020.
- Tauxe 2014. J. Tauxe, *Notes on the GoldSim Plume Function*, Neptune and Company, Inc. 1505 15th St., Suite B, Los Alamos, NM 87544, August 2014.

SRNL-STI-2020-00372

Revision 0

Wohlwend and Flach 2018. J. L. Wohlwend and G. P. Flach, *GoldSim Aquifer Model Calibration and Plume Interaction*, SRNL-STI-2018-00160, Revision 0, Savannah River National Laboratory, Aiken, South Carolina, March 2018.

Distribution:

Brady.Lee@srnl.doe.gov cj.bannochie@srnl.doe.gov alex.cozzi@srnl.doe.gov a.fellinger@srnl.doe.gov samuel.fink@srnl.doe.gov Brenda.Garcia-Diaz@srnl.doe.gov connie.herman@srnl.doe.gov dennis.jackson@srnl.doe.gov Joseph.Manna@srnl.doe.gov daniel.mccabe@srnl.doe.gov Gregg.Morgan@srnl.doe.gov frank.pennebaker@srnl.doe.gov Amy.Ramsey@srnl.doe.gov William.Ramsey@SRNL.DOE.gov eric.skidmore@srnl.doe.gov michael.stone@srnl.doe.gov Boyd.Wiedenman@srnl.doe.gov Terry.Foster@srnl.doe.gov **Records Administration (EDWS)**

sebastian.aleman@srnl.doe.gov paul.andrews@srs.gov tom.butcher@srnl.doe.gov kerri.crawford@srs.gov Thomas.Danielson@srnl.doe.gov kenneth.dixon@srnl.doe.gov James.Dyer@srnl.doe.gov peter.fairchild@srs.gov Scott.Germain@srs.gov luther.hamm@srnl.doe.gov thong.hang@srnl.doe.gov daniel.kaplan@srnl.doe.gov Dien.Li@srs.gov steven.mentrup@srs.gov verne.mooneyhan@srs.gov ralph.nichols@srnl.doe.gov Virgina.Rigsby@srs.gov Jansen.Simmons@srs.gov Ira.Stewart@srs.gov Jennifer.Wohlwend@srnl.doe.gov